# A GENERALIZATION OF AUBRY-MATHER THEORY TO PARTIAL DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS AND PSEUDO-DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS

# RAFAEL DE LA LLAVE AND ENRICO VALDINOCI

ABSTRACT. We discuss an Aubry-Mather-type theory for solutions of non-linear, possibly degenerate, elliptic PDEs and other pseudo-differential operators.

We show that for certain PDEs and  $\Psi$ DEs with periodic coefficients and a variational structure it is possible to find quasi-periodic solutions for all frequencies. This results also hold under a generalized definition of periodicity that makes it possible to consider problems in universal covers of several manifolds, including manifolds with non-commutative fundamental groups.

An abstract result will be provided, from which an Aubry-Mather-type theory for concrete models will be derived.

# Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	A first illustrative result	3
2.1.	Proof of Theorem 2.2.	5
3.	An abstract formulation of Aubry Mather theorem for PDEs and $\Psi DEs$	10
3.1.	Generalization of the notions of periodicity and quasi-periodicity.	11
3.2.	Formulation of an abstract version of Theorem 2.2.	14
4.	Some tools from functional analysis	19
4.1.	Verification of existence and regularity of the gradient flow and regularity of	
	equilibrium solutions.	19
4.2.	Verification of comparison.	22
5.	Some applications of the abstract theorem	26
5.1.	Degenerate elliptic operators.	26
5.2.	Fractional powers of the Laplacian.	29
5.3.	Quasi-periodic solutions in manifolds with residually finite fundamental group.	35
Ack	Acknowledgments	
Ref	References	

# 1. Introduction

The goal of this paper is to develop the beginning of an Aubry-Mather theory for some partial differential equations and pseudo-differential equations.

Roughly speaking, we establish that if the variational problem is:

- Symmetric under integer translations.
- Invariant under addition of integer constants to the unknown function.

- The gradient flow of the functional (in the case of PDEs, it will often be a semi-flow, but we will also use the more common name) is well defined, moderately regular and, more crucially, satisfies a weak comparison principle.
- The Euler-Lagrange equations are elliptic (in a rather weak sense).

Then, there are quasi-periodic equilibrium solutions for all frequencies.

We also show that the invariance under integer translations can be generalized to invariance under the action of a suitable group, provided that we modify accordingly the definition of quasi-periodicity. In particular, we can answer a question of [Mos86a] and develop the theory of variational integrals in some manifolds whose fundamental group is non-Abelian.

Moreover, the quasi-periodic solutions we construct satisfy an extra geometric property, often called "Birkhoff property" even if it seems that they were emphasized and used first in [Mat82]. This implies that, when reduced to the fundamental domain, the solutions give rise to a lamination.

In the Euclidean and non-degenerate settings, results similar to those proved in this paper were proved first in [Mos86a] (see also [Mos89a] and [Mos89b]) which brought to prominence the relation between Aubry-Mather theory and the variational formulation of elliptic PDEs. These results were extended in [Ban89] and several papers have been recently appeared, which developed several features of Aubry-Mather-type theory for PDEs: see, in particular, [CdlL01], [Val01], [RS03], [RS04a], [RS04b], [RS04c], [Val04], [CdlL05], [Bes05], [PV05], [BV06], [dlLV07c] and [NV07a].

In the proof presented here we make an important use of the gradient semi-flow of our functional. The idea of using the gradient semi-flow and its comparison properties for Aubry-Mather theory seems to have originated in [Ang90] and was used to prove the classical result of Aubry-Mather in [Gol92]. Extensions of this method to difference equations on lattices and on graphs were considered in [KdlLR97], [CdlL98], [dlLV06], [dlLV07b], [dlLV07a]. The geometric framework of this paper is also similar to the one in [CdlL98]. The latter extensions made it clear that the locality of the interaction, which was assumed in several proofs of similar results, was only mildly important. This served as a motivation for our including pseudo-differential operators in our formulation. The gradient semi-flow has also been used to prove other results of Aubry-Mather theory. In [Sli99], for instance, there is a proof of the shadowing lemma in the context of dynamical systems.

The plan of this paper is as follows: In Section 2, we give a proof, using our method, of a result already proved by [Mos86a]. In Section 3, we formulate an abstract theorem whose proof follows exactly the proof of the particular case in Section 2.

Section 4 develops some analytical techniques related with the regularity of the gradient flow and with the comparison principle.

In Section 5, we show that our abstract theorem applies to several examples which are not covered by [Mos86a] since the manifold does not have an Abelian fundamental group and the variational principles are not local or degenerate.

In particular, Section 5.1 deals with degenerate operators of p-Laplacian type, while equations driven by the fractional Laplacian are considered in Section 5.2.

In Section 5.3, we show how the results can be extended to cover not only periodic variational problems in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  but also problems in hyperbolic space and in other symmetric spaces. The main new ingredient for these geometric generalizations is an extension (taken from [CdlL98]) of the notion of quasi-periodic functions in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  to situations where we have a space and an action of a well behaved (residually finite) discrete group. When the space is  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and the group is  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ , we recover the classical notion of quasi-periodicity. As a matter of fact, in

the terminology of [SY98], what we call here "quasi-periodic" could also be called "almost automorphic".

It should be clear from the preceding remarks, and even more so from the text, that this paper is somewhat open-ended. Aubry-Mather theory is very rich and it not only includes the existence result of quasi-periodic solutions, but also the existence of several quasi-periodic solutions of the same frequency, the non-existence of smooth solutions for large perturbations, the existence of connecting orbits, etc. To our knowledge, there are no complete generalizations to PDEs and  $\psi$ DEs of these features. See, however, [Ban89], [CdlL01], [RS03], [Val04], [CdlL05], [Bes05], [dlLV06], [dlLV07c] and [NV07b] for related results.

We also note that, besides the generalization presented here, there are several other possibilities in which the interaction between Aubry-Mather theory and partial differential equations can be carried out. For example [Fat97], [E99] and [CdlL01] contain other points of view.

The gradient semi-flow also opens further possibilities, such as the construction of multiple solutions and the analysis of minimal versus non-minimal solutions (see [Bes05] and [dlLV07c]). We remark that, since the main results of this paper are of geometric type, we did not try to minimize regularity assumptions. We also note that there are different variational principles which lead to the same equations. Notably, by adding an exact differential, one does not change the critical points, but one changes the minimizers (which, for instance, is a crucial observation in the construction of connecting orbits in [Mat93] and [Mat96]).

# 2. A first illustrative result

In this section we will give the proof of a result which will be very illustrative of the method we present here. The result itself is a particular case of results which already been obtained in [Mos86a]. Later, we will show how the method presented here can be given an abstract formulation that follows, roughly, the same steps. The abstract theorem will have other instances which we discuss in subsequent sections.

A crucial ingredient in our treatment is the following definition, inspired by one that appeared in the classical Aubry-Mather theory in dynamical systems and that has been also used in [Mos86a], [Ban89], [CdlL01], [Val04] and [dlLV07c].

**Definition 2.1.** We say that a function  $u : \mathbb{R}^d \mapsto \mathbb{R}$  has the Birkhoff property (or that it is Birkhoff) when:

For a fixed  $e \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ ,  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$ 

(1) 
$$u(x+e) - \left(u(x) + \ell\right)$$

does not change sign with x, i.e., when, for all values of x, the expression in (1) above is either  $\geq 0$  or  $\leq 0$  with the choice depending on e,  $\ell$  but not on x.

Equivalently, if we consider the graph of the solution folded to the fundamental domain of  $\mathbb{T}^{d+1}$ , we obtain the set:

$$C = \{(x, u(x+e) \bmod 1), \ x \in \mathbb{T}^d, \ e \in \mathbb{Z}^d\}$$

which consists of a countable set of manifolds that do not cross.

The main result of this section is the following:

**Theorem 2.2.** Let  $V : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a  $C^2$  function which satisfies:

$$V(x+e,u) = V(x,u) \ \forall \ e \in \mathbb{Z}^d$$
  
 $V(x,u+\ell) = V(x,u) \ \forall \ \ell \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

Then, for all  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , the problem

(2) 
$$\Delta u - \partial_2 V(x, u) = 0$$

has a solution which satisfies the Birkhoff property and such that

(3) 
$$u(x) - \omega \cdot x \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

We will refer to  $\omega$  in (3) as the frequency of the solution. Clearly, a function can only satisfy (3) for one frequency.

Remark 2.3. The reason why the result in Theorem 2.2 can be considered an analogue of the classical Aubry-Mather theory is discussed in [Mos86a] and [Mos86b]. Suffice it to note here that if we take n=1, we are considering the motion in a time periodic potential, the time one map of this flow will be a twist mapping. Indeed, in [Mos86b] it is shown that the classical Aubry-Mather theorem on the existence of quasi-periodic invariant measures for twist mappings can be recovered from the consideration of continuous variational principles as above.

**Remark 2.4.** Notice that the above problem (2) is the Euler-Lagrange equation for the (formal) functional

(4) 
$$S(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla u(x)|^2 + V(x, u(x)) dx.$$

Of course, the variational functional above does not make sense and one has to interpret it as usual in the calculus of variations by considering variations with compact support and extending the integral only to compact sets which include the support of the variation (see, e.g., [CdlL01]). The kind of minimizers obtained by comparing with all the compactly supported variations are usually referred to with the name of "local" (or "class A") minimizers. In this paper, we will be concerned mainly with solutions of the PDE associated to (4) (that is, with critical points of (4)) and not with minimizers. Minimizers of related variational problems have been considered in [CdlL01], [RS03], and [Val04]. In general, rearrangement methods, such as the ones in [CdlL01], are needed both to construct minimizers and to select the ones with further geometric properties.

**Remark 2.5.** Note that in the second formulation of the Birkhoff property in Definition 2.1, the (closure of the) set  $\mathcal{C}$  is a lamination, since it consists of leaves which do not cross. In fact, the strong maximum principle implies that they do not touch.

As it is shown in examples in [Ban87], one can have that C is not dense in  $\mathbb{T}^{d+1}$  even if the frequency is irrational. In classical Aubry-Mather theory, this is analogous to the well known fact that one can have Aubry-Mather sets with irrational rotation number which are not invariant circles but Cantor sets.

If  $\omega$  is Diophantine and V is sufficiently small in a sufficiently smooth norm, [Mos88], [Koz83a] and [Koz83b] used KAM theory to show that indeed  $\mathcal{C}$  is dense in  $\mathbb{T}^{d+1}$  and that, therefore, it can be extended uniquely to a foliation.

**Remark 2.6.** Note that the fact that (2) has solutions that grow only linearly is somewhat surprising since by comparing with the explicit solutions of  $\Delta u + a = 0$ ,  $a \neq 0$ , one would expect that the growth is quadratic. This shows that the solutions u are rather equidistributed, so that the effective value of the term  $\partial_2 V(x, u)$  is indeed zero. The same example shows

that unless one uses the variational structure and the periodicity of V, there is no hope to obtain a similar result for general elliptic PDEs.

We also mention that, up to a space scaling, the kind of problems studied in this paper may be related to homogenization procedures in periodic media (see, e.g., [Caf99]).

Remark 2.7. Related problems in a non-variational setting have been studied in [BMV07].

2.1. **Proof of Theorem 2.2.** We will prove the result first for  $\omega \in \frac{1}{N}\mathbb{Z}^d$  and show that the resulting  $u^{\omega}$  satisfy some uniform a priori estimates. Then, given  $\omega_n \in \mathbb{Q}^d$  with  $\omega_n \to \omega^* \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , by possibly passing to a subsequence, we can obtain that  $u^{\omega_n} \to u^{\omega^*}$  which solves equation (2) and satisfies condition (3).

**Definition 2.8.** We denote by

$$\mathcal{B}_{\omega} = \{ u \mid u \text{ is Birkhoff, } u(x) - \omega \cdot x \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \}.$$

We will consider this set as a subset of the affine space  $\omega \cdot x + L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

We note that  $\mathcal{B}_{\omega}$  can also be characterized as the set of Birkhoff functions for which the choices of sign in (1) are the same as in  $\omega \cdot x$ . That is:

(5) 
$$u(x+e) - (u(x)+\ell) \ge 0 \text{ if } \omega \cdot e - \ell \ge 0$$
$$u(x+e) - (u(x)+\ell) \le 0 \text{ if } \omega \cdot e - \ell \le 0,$$

for all  $e \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  and  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$ . We also observe that the set  $\mathcal{B}_{\omega}$  is closed under several natural topologies. Later, we will use that it is closed under  $L^2$  convergence in all the cells  $[0, N]^d + k$  with  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $k \in N\mathbb{Z}^d$ .

Notice that  $\mathcal{B}_{\omega}$  is not empty since  $u(x) = \omega \cdot x$  belongs to it. Also, if  $\omega \in \frac{1}{N}\mathbb{Z}^d$  and  $u \in \mathcal{B}_{\omega}$ , by taking  $\ell = N\omega \cdot e$  in (5), we see that

(6) 
$$u(x+Ne) = u(x) + N\omega \cdot e \qquad \forall \ e \in \mathbb{Z}^d.$$

We will refer to locally bounded functions satisfying (6) as  $\omega$ -periodic functions and denote the spaces of such functions as  $\mathcal{P}_{\omega}$ . It follows from (6) that if  $u \in \mathcal{P}_{\omega}$ , then  $u(x) = \omega \cdot x + \hat{u}(x)$  with  $\hat{u}(x)$   $N\mathbb{Z}^d$ -periodic.

We will consider the functional

(7) 
$$S_N(u) = \int_{[0,N]^d} \frac{1}{2} |\nabla u|^2 + V(x, u(x)) dx$$

defined on functions

$$u \in \mathcal{P}_{\omega} \cap H^1([0, N]^d) \equiv X.$$

The functional in (7) may be viewed as a regularization of the one in (4), since it avoids complications due to unbounded domains.

For the moment, we will proceed heuristically, to derive the gradient semi-flow. We will use the gradient semi-flow to construct our solutions and to establish properties about them.

It can be seen very easily that, on a  $H^1$  dense subset of u and  $\eta$ ,

$$\frac{d}{d\varepsilon} S_N(u + \varepsilon \eta) \Big|_{\varepsilon=0} = \int [-\Delta u(x) + \partial_2 V(x, u(x))] \eta(x) dx$$
$$= \langle -\Delta u + \partial_2 V(\cdot, u), \eta \rangle_{L^2}.$$

Hence, the gradient of  $\mathcal{S}_N$  – with respect to the  $L^2$  metric – is

(8) 
$$\nabla S_N(u) = -\Delta u + \partial_2 V(\cdot, u).$$

Inspired by the previous calculation of the gradient of the functional  $S_N$ , we consider the gradient semi-flow

$$\frac{d}{dt}u = -\nabla \mathcal{S}_N(u),$$

which according to the steepest descent method will converge to a critical point. In the light of our calculation, the steepest descent equation reduces to:

(9) 
$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \Delta u - \partial_2 V(\cdot, u).$$

We will collect a few properties of equation (9) on  $\mathcal{P}_{\omega}$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{\omega}$ , in order to construct a solution of (2) and (3) satisfying some additional regularity properties.

The following result is well known. For example, it follows from Propositions 4.1 and 4.2 in [Tay97] 15.4 (p. 292 ff.). We will review the proof in Section 3. We will not attempt to optimize regularity at this stage, since for the final result, we can recover sharp regularity results by an approximation argument based on elliptic theory (as in Remark 2.18 below).

**Lemma 2.9.** Assume that  $V \in C^{k+3}$ , with  $k \geq 2$ . Let  $u_0$  be such that  $u_0(x) - \omega \cdot x \in W^{k,p}(N\mathbb{T}^d)$ , with  $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ . Then, equation (9) with the initial conditions  $u(0,x) = u_0(x)$  admits a unique solution u(x,t) (or, for short, u(t)), which satisfies

$$\begin{array}{l} u(x,\cdot)-\omega\cdot x\in C^0([0,T),W^{k,p}(N\mathbb{T}^d))\;\forall\;T>0.\\ u(x,\cdot)-\omega\cdot x\in C^1([0,T),W^{k-2,p}(N\mathbb{T}^d))\;\forall\;T>0. \end{array}$$

Moreover, if  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P}_{\omega}$ , then  $u(t) \in \mathcal{P}_{\omega}$  for all times  $t \geq 0$ .

The result in Lemma 2.9 here above states that u(t) is a continuous curve in  $W^{k,p}$ , that we can compute its derivatives in  $W^{k-2,p}$  and that they have the values that make (9) hold. As a consequence of the differentiability properties established in Lemma 2.9, we have:

**Lemma 2.10.** Consider the setting of Lemma 2.9. Assume that  $k \geq 2$  and  $p \geq 2$ . Then,  $S_N(u(t))$  is a Lipschitz function of t and we have:

(10) 
$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{S}_N(u(t)) = -\int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} (-\Delta u + \partial_2 V(\cdot, u))^2 \le 0.$$

*Proof*. Denote

$$K(u) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} |\nabla u|^2.$$

Clearly, it is a differentiable function when considered as a function in  $W^{k,p}$  and, if  $\eta \in C^{\infty}(N\mathbb{T}^d)$ ,

$$DK(u)\eta = \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} \nabla u \nabla \eta = -\int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} \Delta u \, \eta \ .$$

Let also

$$\Gamma(u) = \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} V(\cdot, u) \,.$$

We have that

$$V(x, u(x) + \eta(x)) = V(x, u(x)) + \partial_2 V(x, u(x))\eta(x) + R(x),$$

where

$$|R(x)| \le \frac{1}{2} ||V||_{C^2} |\eta(x)|^2$$
.

Since

$$\int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} |R(x)| \le C||\eta||_{L^2}^2 \,,$$

it follows that  $\Gamma$  is differentiable as a function in  $L^2$  and

$$D\Gamma(u)\eta = \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} \partial_2 V(\cdot, u) \, \eta \,,$$

for any  $\eta \in C^{\infty}(N\mathbb{T}^d)$ .

Accordingly, we obtain that  $S_N = K + \Gamma$  is differentiable in  $W^{k,p}$  and that

(11) 
$$DS_N(u)\eta = \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} (-\Delta u + \partial_2 V(\cdot, u))\eta,$$

for any  $\eta \in L^2(N\mathbb{T}^d)$ .

If we take into account that the solutions of (9) are in  $C^1([0,T],W^{k-2,p})$ , thanks to Lemma 2.9, and we exploit formula (11) for the derivative with  $\eta = \partial_t u$ , we obtain (10).

**Lemma 2.11.** Let  $\tilde{u}(t)$  be any solution of (9) produced in Lemma 2.9 and let

$$u(t) = \tilde{u}(t) - \left[\frac{1}{|N\mathbb{T}^d|} \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} \tilde{u}(t) dx\right],$$

where  $[\cdot]$  here above denotes the integer part.

Then, we can find a sequence  $t_n$ , and  $u_{\omega}^* \in (\omega \cdot x + L^2(N\mathbb{T}^d)) \cap \mathcal{P}_{\omega}$  such that

$$u(t_n) \longrightarrow u_{\omega}^* \ in \ L^2$$

and  $u_{\omega}^*$  solves (2).

*Proof.* From the fact that  $S_N(u(t))$  is differentiable in t and that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{S}_N \le 0 ,$$

we conclude that  $S_N(u(t))$  remains uniformly bounded for all  $t \geq 0$ . Since V is bounded, we gather that  $||\nabla u(t)||_{L^2}$  remains uniformly bounded. By Poincaré Inequality, we conclude that u(t) is contained in an  $L^2$  compact set.

Since  $S_N$  is clearly bounded from below, we can find a sequence of times  $t_n$  such that

$$\frac{d}{dt}S_N(u(t))\big|_{t=t_n}\longrightarrow 0.$$

Since we have shown that u(t) lies in an  $L^2$  compact set, by passing to a subsequence, if necessary, we can assume  $u(t_n) \to u_\omega^*$  in  $L^2$ .

Since  $\partial_2 V$  is Lipschitz, we conclude that

$$||\partial_2 V(\cdot, u(t_n)) - \partial_2 V(\cdot, u_\omega^*)||_{L^2} \to 0.$$

Since the Laplacian is an  $L^2$  closed operator, we obtain:

$$\Delta u_{\omega}^* - \partial_2 V(\cdot, u_{\omega}^*) = 0,$$

as desired.

Note that Lemma 2.11 establishes the existence result in Theorem 2.2 (and, precisely, formulas (2) and (3)) when  $\omega \in \frac{1}{N}\mathbb{Z}^d$  for any  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . We remark, in particular, that (3) is fulfilled due to the fact that  $u(t) \in \mathcal{P}_{\omega}$ , by Lemma 2.9.

Now, we want to obtain enough control on the solutions produced in such a way that when  $\omega_i \to \omega^*$ , then  $u_{\omega_i}^* \to u_{\omega}^*$  (perhaps after passing to a subsequence) and that the resulting  $u_{\omega}^*$  also solves (2) and the satisfies the growth condition (3). Such passage to the limit will be established by showing that the solutions satisfy some form of equicontinuity and equiboundedness. The equicontinuity will be a very easy consequence of elliptic estimates (see Lemma 2.17 here below). The equiboundedness will be a consequence of the Birkhoff property as claimed in Theorem 2.2.

Hence, we will turn our attention to proving that the solutions produced by the argument above are Birkhoff (see Lemma 2.16 below). Since the Birkhoff property depends on comparing a function with its translates, it is natural to investigate how these properties interact with the flow in Lemma 2.9.

Also, we will find it convenient to consider the evolution constructed in Lemma 2.9 to act on functions defined on the whole of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Given that we are considering only solutions in  $\mathcal{P}_{\omega}$ , we identify them with their periodic extension to  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

Following is the very well known comparison principle.

**Lemma 2.12.** In the conditions of Lemma 2.9, if we have  $u(0) \ge v(0)$ , then  $u(t) \ge v(t)$   $\forall t \ge 0$ .

*Proof*. A proof of this result can be found in almost any textbook in PDEs. See, for example, [Wei95]. See also [dlLV07c] for further details. We will provide here a different proof of Lemma 2.12, which admits several generalizations and which is based on the following result:

**Proposition 2.13.** Denote by  $\Phi_t$  the semi-flow of  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \Delta u$  and by  $\psi_t$  the semi-flow of  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = -\partial_2 V(\cdot, u)$ . Let  $u^*$  be a solution of (9). Then,

(12) 
$$u^{\star}(t) = \lim_{n \to \infty} (\psi_{t/n} \Phi_{t/n})^n u^{\star}(0).$$

Formula (12) is a non-linear generalization of Trotter product formula for semigroups (which in turn generalizes a formula of Lie for finite dimensional Lie groups). A proof of this formula with precise hypothesis, which are verified in our case, taking the limit in (12) in the  $L^{\infty}$  sense, can be found in [Tay97] Proposition 5.1, p. 310 (see also Propositions 5.2 and 5.3 there), which we reproduce as Proposition 4.5 later in this paper for the convenience of the reader. The original proof of formula (12) is in [CMHM78].

As it is well known,  $\Phi_t$  and  $\Psi_t$  satisfies comparison principles.

**Proposition 2.14.** If  $u(0) \ge v(0)$  and  $u(0) \ne v(0)$ , then  $\Phi_t u(0) > \Phi_t v(0)$  for all t > 0. If u(0) > v(0), then  $\psi_t u(0) > \psi_t v(0)$ .

*Proof*. The proof of the comparison principle for the heat equation follows easily from the fact that the evolution is given by convolution with the heat kernel, which is positive. For  $\Psi_t$ , note that when we fix x, the equation satisfied by u(t,x) is an ODE Solutions of ODEs cannot cross, so that if u(t,x) > v(t,x) for t=0, it has to remain bigger for later t.

Combining Propositions 2.13 and 2.14 (and taking care of some trivial cases such as t = 0, u(0) = v(0)), we complete the proof of Lemma 2.12.

As an important corollary of Lemma 2.12, we obtain the following:

Corollary 2.15. Let the conditions of Lemma 2.9 hold. Let  $u(0) \in \mathcal{B}_{\omega}$ . Then,  $u(t) \in \mathcal{B}_{\omega}$ .

*Proof*. The idea of the proof goes as follows. The comparison principle in Proposition 2.14 tells us that the semi-flow preserves the order. Also, by the uniqueness result in Lemma 2.9, the semi-flow of a translate is the translate of the semi-flow.

Let us now give more details on this proof, in order to introduce some notation that emphasizes the essential geometric properties, which will be generalized in the sequel. We introduce the operators

$$(C_k u)(x) = u(x+k) \qquad k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$$
  
 $(\mathcal{R}_\ell u)(x) = u(x) + \ell \qquad \ell \in \mathbb{Z}$ 

and we denote the evolution in Lemma 2.9 by  $\Psi_t$ . Then,

(13) 
$$\begin{aligned}
\Psi_t \mathcal{C}_k &= \mathcal{C}_k \Psi_t \\
\Psi_t \mathcal{R}_\ell &= \mathcal{R}_\ell \Psi_t
\end{aligned}$$

by the invariance of (9) and the uniqueness in Lemma 2.9.

Note also that the Birkhoff condition can be expressed concisely by saying that for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  and  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$  we have

$$(14) \mathcal{C}_k u \prec \mathcal{R}_\ell u \,,$$

where  $\prec$  is either < or >.

By Lemma 2.12, if (14) holds, we have that

$$\Psi_t \mathcal{C}_k u \prec \Psi_t \mathcal{R}_\ell u$$

and, by (13), that

$$C_k \Psi_t u \prec \mathcal{R}_\ell \Psi_t u$$
.

That is,  $\Psi_t u$  is also Birkhoff.

Moreover, using (5), we obtain that  $\Psi_t u \in \mathcal{B}_{\omega}$ .

**Lemma 2.16.** The solution  $u_{\omega}^*$  produced in Lemma 2.11 can be assumed to be in  $\mathcal{B}_{\omega}$ .

*Proof*. Consider the semi-flow starting with the initial conditions  $u(x) = \omega \cdot x \in \mathcal{B}_{\omega}$ . Then, by the previous corollary  $u(t) \in \mathcal{B}_{\omega}$ . In the proof of Lemma 2.11 we constructed a subsequence  $u(t_n)$  which converges to  $u_{\omega}^*$  in  $L^2(N\mathbb{T}^d)$ .

When considering functions defined on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , this translates into  $u(t_n) \to u_\omega^*$  in  $L^2([0,N]^d + k)$  for all  $k \in N\mathbb{Z}^d$ . The set  $\mathcal{B}_\omega$  is clearly closed in this topology.

Hence, in virtue of Lemma 2.16, we have established all the claims in Theorem 2.2 for  $\omega$  rational.

Now we start to consider the passage to the limit to irrational frequencies. We will find it important that the functions thus produced satisfy regularity estimates which are independent of the frequency considered.

The following result is a consequence of standard elliptic estimates (see, e.g., [Tay96] Theorem 11.1 p. 379):

**Lemma 2.17.** Assume that  $u_{\omega}^*$  solves (2). Then

$$||D^{r+2}u_{\omega}^*||_{L^{\infty}(N\mathbb{T}^d)} \le K||V||_{C^{r+1+\varepsilon}(N\mathbb{T}^d)}$$

where K is independent of N.

We call attention to the fact that the elliptic estimates of the previous lemma are local. They are independent of N (that is, the period of the fundamental domain), because

$$||V||_{C^{\ell}(N\mathbb{T}^d)} = ||V||_{C^{\ell}(\mathbb{T}^d)},$$

due to the periodicity of V. Let  $\{\omega_n\} \subset \mathbb{Q}^d$ . Denote by  $u^{\omega_n}$  the solutions of (2) produced by applying the argument above.

We note that, since  $u + \ell$  solves (2) if so does u, we can assume that

$$(15) u^{\omega_n}(0) \in [0, 1].$$

Given any  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ , since  $u^{\omega_n} \in \mathcal{B}_{\omega_n}$  we conclude that  $u^{\omega_n}(x+k) - u^{\omega_n}(x+k) + \ell$  has the same sign than  $\omega_n \cdot k - \ell$ , independently of x.

Given (15), we conclude that  $u^{\omega_n}(k)$  has to lie in an interval with integer endpoints and of length 2 which depends only on  $\omega_n$ .

Since  $|u^{\omega_n}(k) - \omega_n \cdot k| \leq 2$ , for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ , taking into account that for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  we can find  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  such that  $|k - x| \leq \sqrt{d}$ , applying Lemma 2.17 for r = 0, we obtain that:

(16) 
$$|u^{\omega_n}(x) - \omega_n \cdot x| \le (K + |\omega_n|)\sqrt{d} + 2.$$

In particular, if  $\omega_n \to \omega$ , the sequence  $u^{\omega_n}$  is equibounded in  $C^0(B_R)$  for any R > 0. Since by Lemma 2.17 it is also equibounded in  $C^2(B_R)$ , we obtain that, perhaps passing to a subsequence,

$$(17) u^{\omega_n} \xrightarrow{C_{\rm loc}^0} u^*.$$

Since the Laplacian is a closed operator under  $C^0_{loc}$  limits, we obtain that the limit  $u^*$  also satisfies (2). Since the set of Birkhoff functions is closed under pointwise limits, we obtain that  $u^*$  is also Birkhoff. It also follows that  $u^* \in \mathcal{B}_{\omega}$ , ending the proof of Theorem 2.2.  $\square$ 

**Remark 2.18.** Note that the approximation procedure here above is only carried out on the solutions of (2) which are rather regular. We do not need to control the approximations of the heat flow.

The same approximation argument works to show that if we have  $V^{(n)} \xrightarrow{C^1} V$  we can obtain that the solutions of (2) for  $V^{(n)}$  have a limit that is a solution for V.

This allows us to obtain the theorem for  $V \in C^1$  even if the estimates for the heat flow require that V is more regular.

# 3. An abstract formulation of Aubry Mather theorem for PDEs and $\Psi DEs$

In this section, we will examine the proof of Theorem 2.2 presented above and find a general framework that allows to give an abstract version of that result. As a matter of fact, this section will be developed at the level of generality of operators in Banach spaces and we will not mention specifically PDEs and  $\Psi$ DEs.

We will also develop an abstraction of the notion of quasi-periodicity that can be applied to variational problems in other manifolds.

Later we will see that, besides the main motivating example of Theorem 2.2, there are other examples of interest that can be proved following the same strategy.

3.1. Generalization of the notions of periodicity and quasi-periodicity. Our first task will be to generalize the notion of periodicity. We will describe a set up that is well suited for Aubry-Mather theory and which was introduced in [CdlL98]. We will show that this allows us to develop an analogous theory to the one developed so far for  $\mathbb{T}^d$  and to establish existence of laminations of solutions for other manifolds whose fundamental group contains a residually finite subgroup.

We see that the main property of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and  $\mathbb{Z}^d$  we used in the proof of Theorem 2.2 are the following:

- i)  $\mathbb{Z}^d$  has subgroups  $G_N \equiv N\mathbb{Z}^d$  of finite index. These subgroups satisfy:
  - i.1)  $\mathbb{R}^d/G_N$  is compact
  - i.2) As  $N \to \infty$ ,  $\mathbb{R}^d/G_N \to \mathbb{R}^d$ . This convergence happens in the sense that any compact set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  is contained in  $\mathbb{R}^d/G_N$  for sufficiently large N.
- ii) There are functions  $\phi_{\omega} : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  (in the previous example,  $\phi_{\omega}(x) = \omega \cdot x$ ) with the property that, given any  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ , we have

$$\phi_{\omega}(x+k) = \phi_{\omega}(x) + \omega \cdot k.$$

Note that the constant term  $\omega \cdot k$  considered as a function of k is a character of the group  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ , that is,  $\omega \cdot (k+k') = \omega \cdot k + \omega \cdot k'$ .

Note also that the operators  $C_k$  can be considered as an action on the space of functions, induced, of course, by an action on the lattice.

There are several groups – including the fundamental groups of hyperbolic manifolds – for which the essential parts of this set up still hold.

We recall the following definition (which is well known from group theory: see, e.g., [CZ93]):

**Definition 3.1.** We say that a group is residually finite when, given any element different from the identity, we can find a subgroup of finite index which does not contain it. We say that a function  $\varphi$  from a group G to the reals is a cocycle when

$$\varphi(gg') = \varphi(g) + \varphi(g') \quad \forall g, g' \in G.$$

The space of cocycles is a vector space, which we will denote by  $H^1(G,\mathbb{R})$ .

The following result is a combination of Propositions 1 and 2 from [CdlL98]. We refer to this paper for the proof.

**Proposition 3.2.** Let  $\tilde{M}$  be a manifold. Let G be a countable, finitely generated group acting on  $\tilde{M}$ . Assume that M, the fundamental domain of the G action, is a compact manifold. Then,

i) If G is residually finite, there is a sequence  $G_i$  of groups of finite index in such a way that:

$$G_i \supset G_{i+1}$$
,  
 $M/G_i \subset M/G_{i+1}$  and  
 $\bigcup_i M/G_i = \tilde{M}$ .

ii) Given any cocycle  $\varphi$ , there is sequence of cocycles  $\varphi_n$  such that

$$\varphi_n \to \varphi$$

for the generators and, hence, for all the elements of the group, and in such a way that for each of the  $\varphi_n$  we can find a group  $G_n$  of finite index such that  $\varphi_n$  takes only integer values on  $G_n$ , that is,  $\varphi_n(G_n) \subset \mathbb{Z}$ .

Cocycles as the ones in the last statement of Proposition 3.2, that is for which there exists a finite index subgroup  $\tilde{G}$  for which  $\varphi(\tilde{G}) \subset \mathbb{Z}$ , are called *rational cocycles*.

When the group that we are considering acts on a manifold in such a way that the fundamental domain is compact (e.g., when the group is the fundamental group of a compact manifold) it is natural to think of the cocycles as functions defined in the manifold.

Indeed, take any continuous function  $u_0$  in the fundamental domain of the action and then consider the extension  $\tilde{u}$  defined in  $\tilde{M}$  by

(18) 
$$u(g \cdot x) = u_0(x) + \varphi(g).$$

This function does not need to be continuous, but we can construct a smooth function which has bounded  $C^k$  norm and which is at a bounded  $C^0$  distance.

The usual linear functions correspond to choosing  $u_0(x) = \omega \cdot x$  in the fundamental domain. Note also that, even if the extensions of cocycles are not unique, all the extensions of cocycles obtained in the manner described above lead to functions that differ only in a  $L^{\infty}$  function. In the context of actions of groups on manifolds, we can also define the notion of Birkhoff property, by using the following notation. Given an element  $g \in G$  we define  $C_g$  as the action on functions defined by

(19) 
$$(\mathcal{C}_q u)(x) = u(g \cdot x)$$

where we have denoted by  $g \cdot x$  the action of the group on  $\tilde{M}$ . Similarly, we define  $R_{\ell}$  for  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$  by:

$$(20) (R_{\ell}u)(x) = u(x) + \ell$$

Then, we define the Birkhoff property in the following way:

**Definition 3.3.** Let  $\tilde{M}$  be a manifold and G be a group acting on it. We say that a function  $u: \tilde{M} \to \mathbb{R}$  is Birkhoff when given any  $g \in G$ ,  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$ , we have

(21) 
$$\mathcal{C}_k u(x) \prec \mathcal{R}_\ell u(x) \quad \forall x \in \tilde{M}$$

where  $\prec$  denotes either  $\leq$  or  $\geq$  and the choice of which symbol to chose depends on k,l but not on x.

The interpretation of Definition 3.3 is that if we move the graph of u by transforming the arguments according to the action of G and the range by integer translations, then these hypersurfaces in  $\tilde{M} \times \mathbb{R}$  do not intersect.

We remark that a cocycle can (and, in the sequel, implicitly, will) be extended to a smooth, Birkhoff function. In particular, by assuming the existence of cocycles, we have that the set of Birkhoff functions is non-empty.

**Remark 3.4.** We now list some important examples in which our set up applies: A particularly important case is

E1 When M is a compact manifold,  $\tilde{M}$  is a cover of M, and G is a finitely generated, residually finite subgroup of the fundamental group  $\Pi_1(M)$  acting on  $\tilde{M}$  by Deck transformations.

Of course, of major subcases of the above are:

E1.1 The case in which  $\tilde{M}$  is the Abelian cover of M and G is the maximal Abelian subgroup of  $\Pi_1(M)$ .

E1.2 The case in which M is the universal cover of M and  $G = \Pi_1(M)$ .

The assumption that the fundamental group is residually finite is verified in many examples, such as the torus and the hyperbolic manifolds (see [CZ93]).

Another interesting example is when

E2 G is a free group.

For instance, if G is the free group generated by two elements (say, a and b), we can consider the following cocycles of G. Given  $g = a_1^{e_1} b_1^{f_1} \dots a_k^{e_k} b_k^{f_k} \in G$ , with  $e_i, f_i \in \mathbb{N}$ , we set  $A(g) = e_1 + \dots + e_k$  and  $B(g) = f_1 + \dots + f_k$ . Then, given  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ , one may considers cocycles of the type

$$\varphi_{\alpha,\beta}(g) = \alpha A(g) + \beta B(g)$$
.

In the above scenario, given a manifold M, we can construct solutions of the Euler-Lagrange equations that "behave under transformations in G as cocycles do". Note that the choice of the group is chiefly arbitrary (though, of course, if G does not have any cocycle our results are void). A precise result will be stated in Theorem 5.12.

For subsequent applications, we will use the cocycles of G. Roughly speaking, we will associate a solution to each cocycle. Hence, in some sense, we will obtain "more solutions the more cocycles G has". On the other hand, since some solutions may be symmetries under G, the results will be "sharper" if G possesses "few" cocycles.

Even if we will not explicitly use it later, we now show that there is close relation between Birkhoff functions and cocycles. The following result also generalizes the classical theory of the rotation number for circle maps.

**Proposition 3.5.** Assume that u is Birkhoff. Then, the following limits exist:

(22) 
$$\varphi(g) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \left( u(g^n \cdot x) - u(x) \right).$$

Moreover, the limits are reached uniformly in x. The function  $\varphi$  obtained above satisfies:

(23) 
$$\varphi(g'g) = \varphi(gg'); \qquad \varphi(Id) = 1;$$

$$If \qquad g'g = gg', \quad we \ have \quad \varphi(gg') = \varphi(g) + \varphi(g').$$

*Proof*. This proof is done in [CdlL98] p. 654. We reproduce it, since we will use some of the ingredients.

By the Birkhoff property, given any g we can find  $l^-(g) \leq l^+(g) \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that

(24) 
$$\mathcal{R}_{l^{-}(q)}u \leq \mathcal{C}_q u \leq \mathcal{R}_{l^{+}(q)}u.$$

Moreover, we can assume that  $l^-$ , (resp.  $l^+$ ) is the largest (resp. smallest) integer for which (24) holds. In this case,

(25) 
$$l^+(g) \le l^-(g) + 1.$$

Therefore, there is a point x with

$$\mathcal{R}_{l^-(g)}u(x) \le \mathcal{C}_g u(x) \le \mathcal{R}_{l^-(g)+1}u(x)$$
.

Notice also that

$$l^+(gg') \le l^+(g) + l^+(g')$$

and analogously

$$l^{-}(gg') \ge l^{-}(g) + l^{-}(g')$$
.

Therefore, by a subadditivity argument (see, e.g., Proposition 10.1 in [CdlL01]),

(26) 
$$\varphi(g) = \lim_{n} \frac{l^{+}(g^{n})}{n}$$

exists. By (25), we obtain that

(27) 
$$\varphi(g) = \lim_{n} \frac{l^{-}(g^n)}{n}.$$

By the subadditivity of  $l^+$ , we have that

$$\varphi(gg') = \lim_{n} \frac{1}{n} l^{+} \Big( (gg')^{n} \Big) = \lim_{n} \frac{1}{n} l^{+} \Big( g(gg')^{n-1} g' \Big)$$

$$\leq \lim_{n} \frac{1}{n} \Big( l^{+}(g) + l^{+} ((gg')^{n-1}) + l^{+}(g') \Big)$$

$$\leq \varphi(g'g).$$

Hence,

$$\varphi(gg') = \varphi(g'g)$$
.

What is more, by (24),

$$\frac{u(g^n \cdot x) - u(x)}{n} \in \left[ \frac{l^-(g^n)}{n}, \frac{l^+(g^n)}{n} \right].$$

Consequently,

$$\lim_{n} \frac{1}{n} \left( u(g^n \cdot x) - u(x) \right) = \varphi(g)$$

and that the limit is reached uniformly in x, due to (26) and (27).

**Remark 3.6.** A function  $\varphi$  as in (23) is sometimes called a quasi-cocycle. We do not know whether the notions of cocycles and quasi-cocycles are equivalent. We will see in Theorem 3.7 that, given any cocycle  $\varphi$ , one can construct a Birkhoff solution u for which  $\varphi$  "plays the role of a rotation number". As a partial counterpart, Proposition 3.5 says that any Birkhoff function u has a quasi-cocycle  $\varphi$  which "plays the role of a rotation number".

3.2. Formulation of an abstract version of Theorem 2.2. Now, we turn our attention to the formulation of an abstract version of the variational scheme in Theorem 2.2. We will first abstract the argument in terms of existence of a gradient semi-flow enjoying certain regularity properties as well as a comparison principle, and a-priori regularity properties of the equilibrium solutions.

The existence of flows and their regularity properties can still be discussed for a while at the level of functional analysis (and, in fact, at the level of the theory of semi-groups and their generators) without discussing concrete models. In this section, we will discuss the abstract set up and the functional analysis that can be used to verify the properties of the set up. Then, we will show how these abstract properties can be verified in concrete models: for this, several useful analytic tools will be collected in Section 4, and they will be applied in several concrete cases in Section 5.

We point out that the arguments in Section 2 use several steps, which we abstract as:

H1 We are considering a problem in a manifold  $\tilde{M}$ . This manifold is endowed with a smooth action by a finitely generated, residually finite group G. The fundamental domain M of the action is compact.

Note that the action of G on M by  $x \to gx$  induces an action in spaces of functions given by

$$u(\cdot) \to (\mathcal{C}_q u)(\cdot) \equiv u(g \cdot)$$
.

H2 The problem has a variational structure compatible with the action  $\mathcal{C}$  on functions and and with the action  $\mathcal{R}$  of the group  $\mathbb{Z}$  given by

$$(\mathcal{R}_{\ell}u)(x) \equiv u(x) + \ell$$
.

This assumption will be made more precise in H2.1, H2.2 and H2.3 here below. We assume that our problem is the Euler Lagrange equation of a variational problem S(u). In order to include in our theory general equations, such as equations involving pseudo-differential operators, we will not assume that the variational problem is the integral of a function.

In the case that we are dealing with PDEs, the functional will be of the form

(28) 
$$S(u) = \int F(x, u(x), \nabla u(x)) dx,$$

but more general functionals are allowed.

As usual in the calculus of variations, we will not need that S(u) is a well defined functional. In the case that our functional is not local, the precise meaning of the Euler-Lagrange will need to be made precise in the following points. We will also assume that  $S(C_g \mathcal{R}_l u) = S(u)$  in a formal sense. In the case that we are dealing with local functionals as in (28), we can just assume that:

(29) 
$$F(x, u \circ g(x) + \ell, (\nabla u \circ g)(x))J_g(x) =$$

$$= F(g^{-1}x, u(x) + \ell Dg(g^{-1}x)\nabla u(x))$$

so that the change of variable gives formally the invariance. For the  $\Psi DE$  case, which does not have a local variational principle, a simple characterization of invariance of the variational principle such as (29) is not possible.

The exact meaning of such formal invariance is that we can define the functional in the quotients of the manifold under the group action. In that case, the functional is a well defined functional. This will be made precise in the following:

- H2.1 The variational principle is a well defined functional for smooth enough functions that are periodic restricted to a fundamental domain of the period. We refer to these variational principles on a compact quotient as reduced variational principles.
- H2.2 The reduced variational principle is invariant under the G action and under the addition of constants.
- H2.3 For every subgroup H of finite index (and, therefore by hypothesis H1, such that the action by H has compact fundamental domain), the reduced variational principle is bounded from below. Note that we allow that these lower bounds depend on the subgroup H.

Points H2.1 and H2.2 mean that, given any subgroup of finite index H, we can define  $\mathcal{S}_H(u)$  on  $C^r$  functions of  $\tilde{M}/H$ . This is a well defined functional with Euler-Lagrange equations, which we will write as

$$(\nabla \mathcal{S}_H)(u) = 0$$
.

The way that we can define the Euler-Lagrange equations on the manifold is through and inductive limit process.

We have that if  $H \subset H'$  are two subgroups of finite index, we can consider  $\tilde{M}/H' \subset \tilde{M}/H$  and, hence, any function in  $\tilde{M}/H$  as a function in  $\tilde{M}/H'$ . We will need that if a function u is H-periodic and it satisfies  $\nabla S_H(u) = 0$ , then, it also satisfies  $\nabla S_{H'} = 0$ . Of course, this is obvious for local variational principles but it is not automatic for the non-local problem for  $\Psi DEs$ .

This will allow us to define the notion of a solution to the Euler-Lagrange equations as the existence of a sequence of subgroups of finite index

$$H_i \subset H_{i+1}$$

such that

$$\nabla \mathcal{S}_{H_i}(u) = 0$$
.

We will see that this notion agrees with the usual notion for local operators.

H3 The gradient of the reduced variational principle generates a semi-flow  $\Psi_t$ . Moreover, this semi-flow satisfies:

H3.1 It is defined for all times when the given data are in a closed subspace of  $C^0$  functions.

H3.2 For any fixed u,  $S_H \circ \Psi_t(u)$  is a continuously differentiable function of t for t > 0. Moreover

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{S}_{H} \circ \Psi_{t}(u) = -||\nabla \mathcal{S}_{H} \circ \Psi_{t}(u)||_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq 0.$$

H3.3 There exist sequences  $k_n \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $t_n \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $t_n \to +\infty$  and  $\Psi_{t_n}(u) - k_n \to u^*$  a.e.  $x \in \tilde{M}/H$ , with  $\nabla \mathcal{S}_H(u^*) = 0$ .

H3.4  $\Psi_t$  admits a weak comparison principle.

In the applications we have in mind, the verification of these properties will come from the theory of parabolic equations.

Finally, we will include some hypotheses about the behavior of the solutions of the Euler-Lagrange equations:

H4 The equilibrium solutions of the reduced variational principle have a  $C_{\text{loc}}^{r+\alpha}$  norm which is bounded independently of which is the subgroup we are considering, for suitable  $r \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\alpha > 0$ .

H5 The gradient of the functional S is a closed operator under convergence in  $C_{\text{loc}}^r$  in

the domain and  $L^2_{loc}$  in the range. That is, if  $u_n \xrightarrow{C^r_{loc}} \tilde{u}$  and  $\nabla \mathcal{S}_H(u_n) \xrightarrow{L^2_{loc}} \tilde{v}$ , then  $\nabla \mathcal{S}_H(\tilde{u}) = \tilde{v}$ .

Note that hypotheses H1 and H2 are about the set up of the problem, which in practical cases are easy to verify (they only require inspection). Hypothesis H3 is fulfilled once the solutions of the gradient semi-flow for  $S_H$  are regular enough, and checking this requires some methods from the theory of evolution equations (for instance, in the case of Theorem 2.2, they are verified by parabolic equation methods). Note that parts H3.1-H3.3 are rather abstract properties of the evolution that can often be established at the functional analysis level for

very broad classes of equations. Property H3.4 – the existence of a comparison principle – is much more geometric in nature.

Property H4 deals with the equilibrium solutions and it is usually established using methods from elliptic regularity theory. Notice also that H4 is the only uniform assumption in the subgroup H.

Property H5 is a rather harmless assumption. For linear operators it can be proved very often using functional analysis methods. In the case that the equilibrium equations are second order elliptic equations (as in [Mos86a] and [Ban89]), one can also use the theory of viscosity solutions to show that the passage to the  $C^0$  limit is also a viscosity solution (see [CC95] Proposition 4.11 p. 38).

One should also notice that properties H4 and H5 are very similar in spirit to the usual Palais-Smale conditions, which allow to take limits of solutions of approximate variational problems.

In fact, as we will see, conditions H4 and H5 are only needed to deal with irrational cocycles. The verification of some of the hypotheses can also be reduced to some other abstract hypotheses. For example, it is customary in PDE theory to obtain the existence of evolutions defined for all time and regularity from abstract semigroup theory assuming properties of the generator. The verification of the comparison principle can be reduced, via Proposition 2.13, to the hypothesis that the semi-flow is the sum of two semi-flows admitting comparison and satisfying the hypothesis of the product formula.

As we will now see, under these hypotheses, the argument we have presented in Section 2 goes through without too many changes. We thus have the following generalization of Theorem 2.2:

**Theorem 3.7.** Consider a manifold  $\tilde{M}$  endowed with an action of a discrete group G. Consider a formal variational principle S defined on functions from  $\tilde{M}$  to  $\mathbb{R}$ .

Assume that the variational principle and that the group action satisfy the hypotheses H1-H5 above.

Then, for every cocycle  $\varphi$  of the group G, we can find a critical point u for S such that

(30) 
$$u(x) - \varphi(x) \in L^{\infty}(\tilde{M})$$

Moreover, u is Birkhoff in the sense of Definition 3.3.

In case only hypotheses H1-H3 are fulfilled, the above result holds true for rational cocycles.

*Proof*. The proof is just going over the proof of Theorem 2.2 and verifying that all the main steps are captured by some assumption in H1-H5 (or in H1-H3). The first step is:

**Lemma 3.8.** Given any subgroup of finite index  $\hat{G}$ , and any cocycle  $\varphi$  such that  $\varphi(\hat{G}) \subset \mathbb{Z}$ , we can find a critical point u of  $\mathcal{S}_{\hat{G}}$  in  $\mathcal{B}_{\varphi}$ . Moreover, u is uniformly bounded in  $C^r$ .

Then, a density argument will establish a result analogous to Lemma 3.8 for all the cocycles. We will refer to cocycles taking integer values in subgroups of finite index as rational cocycles.

*Proof*. Let  $\varphi$  be a rational cocycle with  $\varphi(\hat{G}) \subset \mathbb{Z}$ . We will consider the set of functions such that

$$u(g \cdot x) = u(x) + \varphi(g) \qquad \forall g \in \hat{G}.$$

On this set of functions we can define the reduced variational principle  $\mathcal{S}_{\hat{G}}$ . Notice that these functions can be considered as functions in the manifold  $\tilde{M}/\hat{G}$ . Since  $\hat{G}$  is a subgroup of finite index,  $\tilde{M}/\hat{G}$  is a finite cover of M/G and is, therefore, compact.

By assumption H3, we can define a semi-flow associated to the steepest descent

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Psi_t = -\nabla \mathcal{S}_{\hat{G}} \circ \Psi_t \,.$$

We start this semi-flow on the cocycle function  $\varphi$  and we denote the solution of this problem by u(t) (or by u(p,t), if we want to emphasize its dependence on the point  $p \in \tilde{M}/\hat{G}$ ). By assumption H3.2,  $\mathcal{S}_{\hat{G}}(u(t))$  as a function of the real variable t is differentiable and decreasing. Since  $t \mapsto \mathcal{S}_{\hat{G}}(u(t))$  is bounded from below and decreasing, we can find a sequence  $t_n \to \infty$  such that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{S}_{\hat{G}}(u(t_n)) \to 0$$
.

By assumption H3.3, we can assume that  $u(t_n) - k_n \to \tilde{u}$ , with  $\nabla S_{\hat{G}}(\tilde{u}) = 0$ . This establishes Lemma 3.8 except for the fact that the solution this produced is Birkhoff. This will be a fairly easy consequence of the following

**Proposition 3.9.** Assume H3.1, H3.4 and H2.2. Then, the gradient semi-flow preserves the set of Birkhoff functions (as defined in Definition 3.3).

*Proof*. The proof of this proposition is quite simple. Note that if we have (21) for some  $k, \ell$   $C_k u \prec \mathcal{R}_\ell u$ , then, the comparison principle H3.4 implies that for all  $t \geq 0$ ,  $\Psi_t C_k u \prec \Psi_t \mathcal{R}_\ell u$ . Now note that, by the conditions of symmetry, we see that the equation is invariant under the action of  $C_k$ ,  $R_\ell$ . Therefore, by the uniqueness of solutions, the semi-flow commutes with these symmetries. Hence,  $C_k \Psi_t u \prec \mathcal{R}_\ell \Psi_t u$ . Therefore,  $\Psi_t u$  is Birkhoff.

Using Proposition 3.9, we have that  $u(t_n)$  are Birkhoff. Hence, so are  $u(t_n) + k_n$ . The passage to the limit also preserves the set of Birkhoff functions. This finishes the proof of Lemma 3.8 (and of Theorem 3.7 in case only H1-H3 hold).

To finish the proof of Theorem 3.7 (in case the whole set of assumptions H1-H5 holds), given any cocycle  $\varphi$ , we approximate it by a sequence  $\{\varphi_n\}$  of rational cocycles (see Proposition 3.2). Applying Lemma 3.8 we can produce solutions  $u^{\varphi_n}$  which are  $\varphi_n$ -periodic.

We can assume, by adding appropriate integers to the  $u^{\varphi_n}$ , which does not affect the fact that they are critical points of the functional, that  $u^{\varphi_n}(p) \in [0,1]$ .

By assumption H4, we have that  $u^{\varphi_n}$  are uniformly differentiable.

Since  $u^{\varphi_n}(gp) - (u^{\varphi_n}(p) + \ell)$  and  $\varphi_n(g) - \ell$  have the same sign, we see that  $u^{\varphi_n}(gp)$  has to belong to an interval of length 2 and with rational endpoints. Since  $\varphi_n$  converges to  $\varphi$  over the generators of the group, (and therefore uniformly on bounded sets of g), we have that the above intervals have to converge as  $n \to \infty$ .

By the uniform continuity given by assumption H4, the uniform bounds on  $u^{\varphi_n}(gp)$  and the fact that the action has compact fundamental domain, we obtain that the sequence  $u^{\varphi_n}$  is equibounded and equicontinuous on compact sets.

Hence, we can extract a subsequence which converges uniformly on compact sets. By assumption H5, the limit will also be a solution of the Euler-Lagrange equation. Since the set of Birkhoff functions is closed under uniform convergence on compact sets, we see that the limit will also be Birkhoff and it will also be at a finite distance of the cocycle  $\varphi$ . This ends the proof of Theorem 3.7.

#### 4. Some tools from functional analysis

In this section, we discuss some functional analysis tools that can help in the verification of the abstract hypotheses in concrete cases. Later, we will have to show how the concrete models that we have in mind verify the hypothesis we introduce here.

All the tools included in this section are in the literature. Some of them are quite well known among the practitioners, but others may have become forgotten. Hence, we will not present all the proofs of the results, but limit ourselves to making precise statements, which will be needed in the verification in concrete models, and give references for the proofs.

4.1. Verification of existence and regularity of the gradient flow and regularity of equilibrium solutions. The verification of the assumptions H3 and H4 in Section 3.2 (out of other more accessible assumptions) follows, in many concrete cases, from standard PDE theory. Roughly speaking, H3 involves parabolic theory and H4 involves elliptic theory.

We have found useful for our purposes the books [Hen81], [Sho97], [Sho94], [Tay97] and [Fri76] for the parabolic theory, and the books [Tay97] and [Fri76] for the elliptic theory. We refer to these books for references to the original literature. Of course, using the more advanced theory of fully non-linear equations one can consider other problems. References for this theory are [CC95] and [Kry96].

The following two results come from classical parabolic theory. We will use them in the verification of the abstract hypotheses in concrete models.

**Theorem 4.1.** Let H be a Hilbert space,  $D \subset H$  a linear subspace dense in H. Let A be a linear (possibly unbounded) operator  $A: D \to H$  which is m-accretive, that is

(31) 
$$(-Au, u) \ge 0 \quad \forall u \in D \quad and$$
$$(-A + Id)D = H.$$

Then, given  $u_0 \in H$  it is possible to find a unique  $u(t) \in C^0([0,\infty),H) \cap C^1((0,\infty),H)$  solving

(32) 
$$\frac{d}{dt}u(t) = Au(t); \qquad u(0) = u_0.$$

If we introduce the linear operator  $e^{tA}$  by  $e^{tA}u_0 = u(t)$ , where u(t) is the solution above, we have that for every  $t > 0 \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$ , the operator  $e^{tA}$  is in the domain of  $A^n$  and

$$(33) ||A^n e^{tA}|| \le \left(\frac{n}{t\sqrt{2}}\right)^n.$$

Therefore,  $u(t) \in C^0([0,\infty), H) \cap C^\infty((0,\infty), H)$ .

*Proof*. This is the celebrated Hille-Phillips-Yoshida Theorem. See, for instance, I.5 of [Sho97] or Theorem 1.2 p. 95 of [Fri76]. In particular, the existence of u, the estimate in (33) and the regularity of u are discussed, respectively, in Corollaries 5.3, 5.4 and 5.5 of [Sho97].

**Remark 4.2.** If, for some  $a \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have

$$(34) \qquad (-Au, u) \ge a(u, u)$$

then, (A-a) is also m-accretive, and so we can define  $e^{(A-a)t}$ . It is easy to check that  $e^{(A-a)t} = e^{at}e^{-At}$ .

If we apply (33) to A - a, we obtain, under the hypothesis (34), that

$$||A^n e^{tA}|| \le \left(\frac{n}{t\sqrt{2}}\right)^n e^{-at}.$$

Moreover, the use of interpolation spaces (see, e.g., p. 275 in [Tay96], and also [Kom67] and [Lun95]) allows us to extend formula (33) to any positive real power of the operator A. For instance, for any  $\alpha$ , T > 0, we have that

$$||(-A)^{\alpha}e^{tA}|| \le C_{\alpha,T} \left(\frac{\alpha}{t}\right)^{\alpha},$$

for any  $t \in (0, T]$ , for a suitable  $C_{\alpha,T} > 0$ .

To prove this, one may consider the domain D(A) of the operator A and (as done, for instance, on p. 33 of [Lun95]) endow such a space with the "graph norm"

$$||u||_{D(A)} = ||u||_H + ||Au||_H$$
.

Then, one considers the operator  $B = (-A)^m$ , where  $\alpha \in [m-1, m)$  and  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  and exploits Proposition 2.2.15 and Definition 1.1.1 of [Lun95] to deduce that

$$||u||_{D(B^{\alpha/m})} \le \operatorname{const} ||u||_{H}^{1-\alpha/m} ||u||_{D(B)}^{\alpha/m},$$

for any  $u \in D(B)$ . Therefore, from (33),

$$||(-A)^{\alpha}e^{tA}f||_{H} = ||B^{\alpha/m}e^{tA}f||_{H}$$

$$\leq ||e^{tA}f||_{D(B^{\alpha/m})}$$

$$\leq \operatorname{const} ||e^{tA}f||_{H}^{1-\alpha/m} ||e^{tA}f||_{D(B)}^{\alpha/m}$$

$$= \operatorname{const} ||e^{tA}f||_{H}^{1-\alpha/m} \left( ||e^{tA}f||_{H} + ||Be^{tA}f||_{H} \right)^{\alpha/m}$$

$$= \operatorname{const} ||e^{tA}f||_{H}^{1-\alpha/m} \left( ||e^{tA}f||_{H} + ||A^{m}e^{tA}f||_{H} \right)^{\alpha/m}$$

$$\leq \operatorname{const} ||f||_{H}^{1-\alpha/m} \left( \left( 1 + (m/t)^{m} \right) ||f||_{H} \right)^{\alpha/m}$$

$$\leq \operatorname{const} ||\alpha/t|^{1-\alpha/m} \left( \left( 1 + (m/t)^{m} \right) ||f||_{H} \right)$$

where the constants here may depend on  $\alpha$  and T, proving (36).

Also, from (36), it is possible to obtain short-time estimates (as the ones in (41) below). Namely, we fix  $\alpha \in (0,1)$  and we consider the "graph space"  $Y = D((-A)^{\alpha})$  endowed with the "graph norm"

$$||u||_Y = ||u||_H + ||(-A)^{\alpha}u||_H$$
.

Then, we gather from (36) that

$$||e^{tA}||_{\mathcal{L}(H,Y)} \le C_{\alpha,T} \left(1 + \left(\frac{\alpha}{t}\right)^{\alpha}\right),$$

for any  $t \in (0,T]$ , for a suitable constant  $C_{\alpha,T}$ . Furthermore, using again (36) (and the fact that  $\alpha \in (0,1)$ ),

$$||e^{tA} - \operatorname{Id}||_{\mathcal{L}(Y,H)} \leq \sup_{u} \frac{\int_{0}^{t} ||Ae^{sA}u||_{H} ds}{||u||_{H} + ||(-A)^{\alpha}u||_{H}}$$

$$\leq \sup_{u} \frac{\int_{0}^{t} ||(-A)^{1-\alpha}e^{sA}(-A)^{\alpha}u||_{H} ds}{||(-A)^{\alpha}u||_{H}}$$

$$\leq \sup_{v} \frac{\int_{0}^{t} ||(-A)^{1-\alpha}e^{sA}v||_{H} ds}{||v||_{H}}$$

$$\leq \operatorname{const} \int_{0}^{t} \left(\frac{1-\alpha}{s}\right)^{1-\alpha} ds$$

$$= \operatorname{const} t^{\alpha}.$$

In the case of fractional powers of the Laplacian, related estimates may be obtained by Fourier analysis (see Proposition 5.9 below).

Analogously, to study non-linear problems, as in [Hen81], it is convenient to interpret (33) and (35) for even n as stating that the operator  $e^{-tA}$  is bounded from the Hilbert space H to the Hilbert space Y obtained by completing the domain of  $A^n$  endowed with the inner product

$$\langle u, v \rangle_Y = \langle u, v \rangle_H + \langle A^n u, A^n v \rangle_H$$
.

Once we have defined these spaces for any even integer n, one can use interpolation to define them for  $n \in \mathbb{R}^+$  (see, e.g., 4.2 in [Tay96]).

In case that we take  $A = \Delta$ , we obtain the classical Sobolev spaces.

The control of the non-linear terms is easily done using the following so-called Duhamel formula.

**Proposition 4.3.** Let H, Y be Hilbert spaces  $Y \subset H$ . Let  $N : H \to Y$  be a locally Lipschitz function. Assume that for some  $0 \le \alpha < 1$ 

$$(37) ||e^{tA}|| \le Ct^{-\alpha} \forall t > 0.$$

A function  $u(t) \in C^0([0,T),H) \cap C^1((0,T),H)$  is a solution of

(38) 
$$\frac{d}{dt}u(t) = Au(t) + N(u(t)), \qquad u(0) = u_0$$

if and only if it is a solution of

(39) 
$$u(t) = e^{tA}u_0 + \int_0^t e^{(t-s)A}N(u(s)) ds.$$

Moreover, for T sufficiently small, we can find a unique solution  $u(t) \in C^0([0,T),H)$  of (39). Such T can be estimated from below in terms of  $||u_0||_H$ . Also,  $u \in C^0((0,T),Y)$ .

*Proof.* See [Tay97], p. 272. The basic idea is to show that the right hand side of (39) is a contraction operator for T small.

Once we have a solution of (39) in  $C^0([0,T),H)$ , it follows from (37) that the right hand side of (39) is in  $C^0((0,T),Y)$ .

In the applications we have in mind, this basic result can be extended in several ways:

**Proposition 4.4.** Assume that A is m-accretive in all Sobolev spaces  $W^{s,2}$ , for  $s \leq s^*$  and that N is Lipschitz in all the spaces  $W^{s,2}$  for  $s \leq s^*$ . Then, the solution produced in Proposition 4.3 is  $C^0((0,T),W^{s^*,2})$ .

*Proof.* We can take H to be  $L^2$  and then apply Proposition 4.3 to conclude existence for short time with  $Y = W^{\alpha,2}$  with  $\alpha$  any number smaller than the order of the linear operator. If N is such that it maps  $W^{\alpha,2}$  into itself, we can see that the right hand side of (39) belongs to  $W^{2\alpha,2}$ .

The process can be iterated to conclude that  $u(t) \in C^0((0,T), W^{n\alpha,2})$  provided that N is Lipschitz in the spaces  $W^{i\alpha,2}$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ .

In the applications we have discussed in detail, the operator N is a composition operator. The regularity of the composition of a  $C^r$  functions considered as an operator among Sobolev spaces is a consequence of Moser estimates (see, e.g., [Tay97] 13.3 and, for a more comprehensive study, [AZ90] and [LdC97]).

Since the time of existence depends only on the Y norm, in the situations when the Y norm remains bounded by a-priori bounds, we have existence for all times.

4.2. **Verification of comparison.** In this subsection, we collect several functional analysis tools which can be used to verify the comparison principle H3.4.

Of course, the literature on comparison results for parabolic equations is quite extensive and we cannot hope to make it justice here. We just mention that the classic [PW84] is still very useful for us.

In this subsection, we will just discuss two functional analysis methods that can be used to reduce the comparison results to simpler ones: namely, product formulas and subordination identities.

4.2.1. *Product formulas.* The product formula that we have found useful is the non-linear analogue of the Trotter product formula of [CMHM78]. We reproduce the version of [Tay97] Proposition 5.1, p. 310.

This formula is applied to the study of equations of the form

(40) 
$$\frac{d}{dt}u = Lu + X(u); \qquad u(0) = u_0,$$

where L is a linear operator and X is a vector field.

**Proposition 4.5.** Let V, W be Banach spaces of l-tuples of functions for which  $e^{tL}$  satisfies the estimates

(41) 
$$||e^{tL}||_{\mathcal{L}(V)} \le e^{ct}, \ ||e^{tL}||_{\mathcal{L}(W,V)} \le Ct^{-\gamma}, \ ||e^{tL} - Id||_{\mathcal{L}(V,W)} \le Ct^{\delta},$$

for 0 < t < T, with some  $\delta > 0$ ,  $0 < \gamma < 1$ .

Let X be a vector field generating a flow  $\mathcal{F}_X^t$  on  $\mathbb{R}^l$ , satisfying, for  $||f|| \leq C_1$ ,

$$(42) ||\mathcal{F}_X^t(f)|| \le C_2$$

and, for  $||f|| \geq C_1$ ,

(43) 
$$||\mathcal{F}_X^t(f)|| \le e^{ct}||f||,$$

for any  $0 \le t \le T$ . Assume also that

(44) 
$$\mathcal{X}: V \to V$$
 and  $\mathcal{G}: V \times V \to \mathcal{L}(W) \cap \mathcal{L}(V)$ 

are bounded, where

$$(\mathcal{X}f)(x) = X(f(x))$$

(45) 
$$[\mathcal{G}(f,g)](x) = Y(f(x),g(x)) = \int_0^1 DX(sg(x) + (1-s)f(x)) ds.$$

Let  $u_0 \in V$ , and let  $u(t) \in C^0([0,T],V)$  be a solution of (40). We define v(t) by

(46) 
$$v_k = \left(e^{(1/n)L} \mathcal{F}_X^{1/n}\right)^n (u_0)$$
$$v(t) = e^{sL} \mathcal{F}_X^s v_k$$

for t = k/n + s and  $0 \le s < 1/n$ . Then,

$$(47) ||v(t) - u(t)||_V \le C(||u_0||_V) n^{-\delta}.$$

One consequence of Proposition 4.5 is that, if both the semigroup  $e^{tL}$  and  $\mathcal{F}_X^t$  satisfy comparison, then so does the evolution generated by (40). In this sense, Proposition 4.5 is an abstract version of Proposition 2.13.

**Remark 4.6.** Notice that only a weak comparison principle is needed in this paper to obtain solutions of our problem.  $\Box$ 

4.2.2. Subordination identities. Subordination identities are another tool that proves useful in the verification of comparison in several occasions, such as the case of fractional operators. Subordination identities come from Laplace transform identities. The following one comes from [Pol46] (see also section IX.11 in [Yos78]):

**Proposition 4.7.** Let  $0 < \lambda < 1$  and let x be a non-negative number. Then, we have:

(48) 
$$e^{-x^{\lambda}t} = \int_0^\infty e^{-st^{1/\lambda}x} \phi_{\lambda}(s) \, ds \,,$$

where  $\phi_{\lambda}$  is a suitable non-negative function.

When  $\lambda = 1/2$ , formula (48) can be made particularly explicit and is the Bochner subordination identity (see, e.g., [Tay96] formula (5.22) p. 219, and formula (A.21) p. 264):

**Proposition 4.8.** Let x be a non-negative number. We have:

(49) 
$$e^{-tx^{1/2}} = (1/2)t\pi^{-1/2} \int_0^\infty e^{-sx} e^{-t^2/4s} s^{-3/2} ds$$
$$= (1/2)\pi^{-1/2} \int_0^\infty e^{-sxt^2} e^{-1/4s} s^{-3/2} ds.$$

Remark 4.9. By comparing (48) and (49), one sees that

(50) 
$$\phi_{1/2}(s) = (1/2)\pi^{-1/2}e^{-1/4s}s^{-3/2}.$$

The following argument deduces Proposition 4.7 from the particular case in Proposition 4.8 and it gives an alternative to the proof in [Pol46].

Due to a scaling argument, we may and do assume t=1 for proving Proposition 4.7. First of all, by applying Proposition 4.8 repeatedly, we get Proposition 4.7 for  $\lambda = 1/2^m$ . Moreover, using the fact that if  $a = \int_0^\infty \phi_a(s)e^{-s} ds$ ,  $b = \int_0^\infty \phi_b(s)e^{-s} ds$ , then:

$$a \cdot b = \int_0^\infty \phi_{ab}(s)e^{-s} \, ds$$

where

$$\phi_{ab}(s) = \int_0^s \phi_a(s-\tau)\phi_b(\tau) d\tau ,$$

we obtain that if two functions can be represented as the Laplace transform of a non-negative function so can the product.

Therefore, we obtain that  $e^{-x^{\lambda}}$  is the Laplace transform of a positive function whenever

$$\lambda = \sum_{i=0}^{N} 2^{-m_i}$$

and  $m_i \in \mathbb{N}$ .

We also recall the well known inverse Laplace transform formula (see, e.g., [CH62] for the basics of the Laplace transform theory).

If 
$$F(x) = \int_0^\infty f(u)e^{-xu} du$$
, then

(52) 
$$f(u) = \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} F(x)e^{xu} dx.$$

If we take

$$F_{\lambda}(x) = \exp\left(-x^{\lambda}\right),$$

for  $0 < \lambda < 1$  and c > 0, setting x = c + iy, we get that

$$e^{(c+iy)u} = e^{xu}.$$

On the other hand, if we choose the branch of  $x^{\lambda}$  which takes real values when x is real – as is implicit in the previous discussion – we have that

$$(c+iy)^{\lambda} \approx |y|^{\lambda} (\cos(\lambda \pi/2) + i\sin(\lambda \pi/2)) + O(y^{\lambda'}), \qquad \lambda' < \lambda,$$

for large |y|. Accordingly,

$$|e^{-(c+iy)^{\lambda}}| \approx e^{-\cos(\lambda \pi/2)|y|^{\lambda}}$$

for large |y|. Hence, when

$$F_{\lambda}(x) = \exp(-x^{\lambda}),$$

the integral in (52) converges uniformly when  $\lambda \in (0,1)$  ranges over a compact set of values. We also note that when  $\lambda_n \to \lambda$ ,  $x^{\lambda_n} \to x^{\lambda}$  uniformly on compact sets of the right hand plane.

The two previous observations imply that as  $\lambda_n \to \lambda$ , for a fixed  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$(53) f_{\lambda_n}(x) \to f_{\lambda}(x) .$$

We remark that, in fact, with only slightly more work, one can show that they converge uniformly on compact subsets of x, but we will not need it here.

By the arguments above, given  $0 < \lambda < 1$ , we chose a sequence  $0 < \lambda_n < 1$  contained in the set in (51) and such that  $\lambda_n \to \lambda$ . We had argued that for all the  $\lambda_n$ ,  $f_{\lambda_n}(x) \ge 0$ . By (53), we have proved Proposition 4.7.

Notice that the gist of these formulas is that we can express  $e^{-x^{\lambda}t}$  as a superposition of  $e^{-tx}$  with positive coefficients. If we interpret x to be an operator and  $e^{-tx}$  to denote the semigroup generated by it, we obtain formally the semigroup generated by  $x^{\lambda}$  can be obtained by superposing the semigroup generated by x with positive coefficients.

In particular, if the semigroup generated by x is positive preserving, the semigroup generated by  $x^{\lambda}$  will also be positive preserving.

To justify these formal considerations, we note that it is easy to verify that, if x indeed defines a semigroup, then, the right hand side of (48) is also a semigroup. In many cases, depending on the asymptotic properties of the semigroup  $e^{-sx}$ , it is possible to justify that the semigroup is continuous at 0. By the Hille-Phillips Theorem (see, e.g., [Hil48] and [Yos48]) this semigroup should have a generator. This can be taken as the definition of  $x^{\lambda}$ .

For example, for m-accretive self-adjoint operators on Hilbert spaces, we can use the functional calculus to show that indeed formulas (48) and (49) do define a good operator and that this definition agrees with that of the functional calculus. In particular, interesting representation formulas and analytic bounds may be obtained from (48) and (49), as we show in Lemma 4.10 and Proposition 4.11 here below.

**Lemma 4.10.** Let A be a self-adjoint operator on a Hilbert space with non-negative spectrum and let  $\lambda \in (0,1)$ . Then,

(54) 
$$e^{-tA^{\lambda}} = \int_0^{\infty} e^{-st^{1/\lambda}A} \phi_{\lambda}(s) \, ds \, .$$

Proof. The Spectral Theorem (see, e.g., Theorem VIII.6 in [RS72]) gives that

$$A = \int_0^{+\infty} \sigma \, dE(\sigma) \,,$$

for suitable projection-valued measures  $E(\sigma)$  and that

$$g(A) = \int_0^{+\infty} g(\sigma) dE(\sigma),$$

for any Borel function g. In particular, taking  $g(r) = e^{-tr^{\lambda}}$  and  $g(r) = e^{-st^{1/\lambda}r}$  and using Proposition 4.7, we obtain

$$e^{-tA^{\lambda}} = \int_{0}^{+\infty} e^{-t\sigma^{\lambda}} dE(\sigma)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{+\infty} \int_{0}^{+\infty} e^{-st^{1/\lambda}\sigma} \phi_{\lambda}(s) ds dE(\sigma)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{+\infty} e^{-st^{1/\lambda}A} \phi_{\lambda}(s) ds,$$

which gives (54).

Note that the subordination identity not only gives us the existence of the semigroup given by the roots, but also establishes asymptotic bounds similar to those used in Proposition 4.5, as next result shows:

**Proposition 4.11.** Let A and  $\lambda$  be as in Lemma 4.10. Assume that  $e^{-tA}$  satisfies

$$(55) ||e^{-tA}||_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)} \le Ct^{-\alpha},$$

for some  $\alpha \geq 0$ . Then, for every  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $e^{-tA^{1/2^m}}$  is also bounded in the same spaces and it satisfies the bounds

(56) 
$$||e^{-tA^{1/2^m}}||_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)} \le Ct^{-\alpha 2^m},$$

for a suitable C > 0, possibly depending on d and  $\alpha$ . In particular, when  $\alpha = 0$  and X = Y, i.e., when  $e^{-tA}$  is a continuous semigroup in the Banach space X, then so is  $e^{-tA^{1/2}}$ .

*Proof.* Note that taking norms inside (54) and exploiting (50) and (55), we obtain:

(57) 
$$||e^{-tA^{1/2}}||_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)} \le (1/2) t \pi^{-1/2} \int_0^\infty e^{-t^2/4s} C s^{-\alpha} s^{-3/2} ds.$$

It is easy to check that, for t > 0 the integral converges, since  $\alpha > -1/2$ . Using the change of variables  $u = s/t^2$ , we obtain that the integral in the right hand side of (57) is  $\tilde{C}t^{-2\alpha}$ . The desired result follows by induction over m.

# 5. Some applications of the abstract theorem

In this section we discuss some applications of Theorem 3.7.

5.1. **Degenerate elliptic operators.** We now extend Theorem 2.2 to possibly degenerate elliptic operators. Though more general operators may be dealt with using similar techniques, we will focus on the standard p-Laplacian operator, with  $p \ge 2$ . We recall that

(58) 
$$\Delta_p u = \operatorname{div}(|\nabla u|^{p-2} \nabla u)$$

for any smooth function u. As usual, when u is not smooth, say  $u \in W^{1,p}$ , then (58) is interpreted in the weak distributional sense (see [Lio69], [DiB95] and [HKM06] for further details on p-Laplace equations).

The main result of this section is the following:

**Theorem 5.1.** Let  $p \in [2, +\infty)$ . Let  $V : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a  $C^2$  function which satisfies:

$$V(x+e,u) = V(x,u) \ \forall \ e \in \mathbb{Z}^d$$
  
 $V(x,u+\ell) = V(x,u) \ \forall \ \ell \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

Then, for all  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , the problem

$$\Delta_p u - \partial_2 V(x, u) = 0$$

has a solution which satisfies the Birkhoff property and such that

$$u(x) - \omega \cdot x \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$$
.

Since p-Laplacian-type equations are a delicate subject, we need some preliminary result for the proof of Theorem 5.1. We first point out a regularity result:

**Lemma 5.2.** Let T > 0. Suppose that  $u - \omega \cdot x \in W^{1,p}(N\mathbb{T}^d \times [0,T]) \cap C(N\mathbb{T}^d \times [0,T])$  weakly satisfies

(59) 
$$\partial_t u(x,t) = \Delta_p u(x,t) - \partial_2 V(x,u(x,t)).$$

Then,  $\nabla u \in C^{\alpha}_{loc}$ , for some  $\alpha > 0$  and the  $C^{\alpha}$ -norm of  $\nabla u$  in any subdomain of  $\{t > 1\}$  is bounded uniformly by a quantity which only depends on N, on  $||\nabla u(x,0)||_{L^{p}(N\mathbb{T}^{d})}$  and on the structural constants.

*Proof*. That  $\nabla u \in C^{\alpha}_{loc}$  follows from [DiB93]. Let us now explicitly bound its norm. We write

$$E(t) := \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} \frac{1}{p} |\nabla u(x,t)|^p + V(x,u(x,t)) dx.$$

By differentiating, as done in Lemma 2.10, it follows from (59) that  $E' \leq 0$ . Thence,

$$\int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} \frac{1}{p} |\nabla u(x,t)|^p dx \leq E(t) + ||V||_{L^{\infty}} |N\mathbb{T}^d| 
\leq E(0) + ||V||_{L^{\infty}} |N\mathbb{T}^d| 
\leq \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} \frac{1}{p} |\nabla u(x,0)|^p dx + 2||V||_{L^{\infty}} |N\mathbb{T}^d|.$$

We will denote the latter quantity by  $C_0$ .

By Theorem 5.1 in page 238 of [DiB93], we know that

$$|\nabla u(x_o, t_o)| \le C \int_{t_o - 1/2}^{t_o} \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} |\nabla u(x, t)|^p dx dt$$

for any  $x_o \in N\mathbb{T}^d$  and  $t_o > 9/10$ , where C > 0 is a suitable constant. So, by (60),

$$|\nabla u(x_o, t_o)| \leq CC_0$$

for any  $t_o > 9/10$ .

We can therefore make use of Theorem 1.1' on page 256 of [DiB93] (taking the quantity  $\mu$  there to be simply  $CC_0$  here). Such result then bounds the  $C^{\alpha}$  seminorm of  $\nabla u$  in terms of  $C_0$ , in any subdomain of  $\{t > 1\}$ .

Following is a modification of Lemma 3.1 on page 160 of [DiB93]:

**Lemma 5.3.** Let T > 0. Let  $f : \mathbb{R}^d \times [0,T] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a bounded function, uniformly Lipschitz in its last variable. Suppose that  $u - \omega \cdot x \in W^{1,p}(N\mathbb{T}^d \times [0,T]) \cap C(N\mathbb{T}^d \times [0,T])$  weakly satisfies

(61) 
$$\partial_t u(x,t) \le \Delta_p u(x,t) + f(x,t,u(x,t))$$

and that  $v - \omega \cdot x \in W^{1,p}(N\mathbb{T}^d \times [0,T]) \cap C(N\mathbb{T}^d \times [0,T])$  weakly satisfies

(62) 
$$\partial_t v(x,t) \ge \Delta_p v(x,t) + f(x,t,v(x,t)).$$

Suppose that

$$(63) u(x,0) \le v(x,0).$$

Then,  $u(x,t) \leq v(x,t)$  for any  $t \in [0,T]$ .

*Proof.* Fix  $\epsilon > 0$ , to be taken arbitrarily small in the sequel. Let w := u - v and  $W := \max\{w,0\}$ . Note that  $0 \le W \in W^{1,p}(N\mathbb{T}^d \times [0,T])$ . We also define

$$\Phi(t) := \frac{1}{2} \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} W^2(x, t) \, dx.$$

Note that, by (63),  $w(x,0) \leq 0$  and so

$$\Phi(0) = 0.$$

Also, using Lemma 4.4 on page 13 of [DiB93],

$$(|\nabla u|^{p-2}\nabla u - |\nabla v|^{p-2}\nabla v) \cdot \nabla(u - v) \ge 0$$

and therefore

(65) 
$$\int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} (|\nabla u(x,t)|^{p-2} \nabla u(x,t) - |\nabla v(x,t)|^{p-2} \nabla v(x,t)) \cdot \nabla W(x,t) \, dx \ge 0$$

for any  $t \in (0,T)$ .

Exploiting (61), (62) and (65), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \Phi'(t) &= \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} W(x,t) \, \partial_t W(x,t) \, dx \\ &= \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} W(x,t) \, \partial_t (u(x,t) - v(x,t)) \, dx \\ &\leq \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} \nabla W(x,t) \cdot \left( |\nabla v(x,t)|^{p-2} \nabla v(x,t) - |\nabla u(x,t)|^{p-2} \nabla u(x,t) \right) dx \\ &+ \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} W(x,t) \left( f(x,t,u(x,t)) - f(x,t,v(x,t)) \, dx \right. \\ &\leq 0 + C \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} W(x,t) |u(x,t) - v(x,t)| \, dx \\ &= C \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} W^2(x,t) \, dx \end{split}$$

for a suitable C > 0.

Consequently, if  $\bar{C} := 2C$ ,

$$\Phi'(t) \le \bar{C}\Phi(t) + \epsilon.$$

Since  $\Phi \geq 0$  by construction, this means that

$$\partial_t \log \left( \bar{C}\Phi(t) + \epsilon \right) \leq \bar{C}$$

and so, by integrating and making use of (64),

$$\bar{C}\Phi(t) \le \epsilon e^{\bar{C}T}$$

for any  $t \in [0, T]$ .

Since  $\epsilon$  may be taken arbitrarily small, we conclude that  $\Phi$  is identically zero, which gives the desired claim.

We now complete the proof of Theorem 5.1. This will be accomplished via Theorem 3.7. To this end, we need to check conditions H1-H5. Conditions H1 and H2 are obvious, just taking the manifold to be  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , the fundamental domain to be the torus, the group action to be the integer translation and the variational principle to be

(66) 
$$S(u) = \int \frac{1}{p} |\nabla u|^p + V(x, u) dx.$$

The existence of the degenerate parabolic semi-flow is assured by Théorème 1.1 on page 156 of [Lio69], thus H3.1 is satisfied. By differentiating, as done in Lemma 2.10, we obtain H3.2. The fact that H3.3 holds may be obtained as follows. We take  $k_n$  to be the integer part of  $\Psi_{t_n}(u)(0)$ . In this way  $|\Psi_{t_n}(u)(0) - k_n| \le 1$ . Therefore, Lemma 5.2 gives that  $\Psi_{t_n}(u) - k_n$  is locally equicontinuous and equibounded together with its derivatives. Accordingly, H3.3 holds.

Lemma 5.3 implies that H3.4 holds.

The regularity results of [DiB83] or [Tol84] give H4, with r := 1 and a suitable  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ . Since only first derivatives of solutions are involved in the gradient of the functional in (66), the fact that r = 1 gives H5.

The above arguments yield that all the hypotheses H1-H5 are satisfied in the p-Laplacian setting. Making use of Theorem 3.7, we thus end the proof of Theorem 5.1.

5.2. Fractional powers of the Laplacian. In this section, we will consider some generalizations of Theorem 2.2 to fractional powers of the Laplacian instead of the Laplacian (see, e.g., [Lan72] and [Ste70] for the basic properties of the fractional Laplacian operator). A representative result is the following:

**Theorem 5.4.** Let  $V: \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a  $C^2$  function which satisfies:

$$V(x+e,u) = V(x,u) \ \forall \ e \in \mathbb{Z}^d$$
  
 $V(x,u+\ell) = V(x,u) \ \forall \ \ell \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ 

Let  $0 < \lambda < 1$ . Then, for all  $\omega \in \mathbb{Q}^d$ , the problem

$$(-\Delta)^{\lambda}(u-\omega\cdot x) + \partial_2 V(x,u) = 0$$

has a solution such that

(68) 
$$u(x) - \omega \cdot x \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

Moreover, the solution claimed above can be assumed to have the Birkhoff property.

Remark 5.5. Equations similar to (67) for  $\lambda = 1/2$  appear in several fields where the  $(-\Delta)^{1/2}$  operator plays a role. For examples in the ultrarelativistic limit of quantum mechanics, see [FdlL86]. See also [MT96] and [Cor98] for related problems in the theory of quasi-geostrophic flow. Similar equations also arise in the theory of water waves: see, e.g., [CG94] and [NS94]. For this latter application, we note that the operator  $(-\Delta)^{1/2}$  appears frequently as an approximation to the Dirichlet to Neumann operator.

The operator  $(-\Delta)^{1/2}$  also plays an important role in the wave equation approach to inverse spectral problems (see [DG75]) and in the thin obstacle problem (see [Caf79]).

Several applications to phase transition problems driven by either the fractional Laplacian or non-local interactions have recently appeared in the literature: see, for instance, [AB98], [BBP01], [COP02], [CSM05], [GP06] and references therein.

Remark 5.6. The method of proof works for more complicated problems such as

$$(69) Lu + \partial_2 V(x, u) = 0,$$

where L is an operator obtained by from the Laplacian by repeated taking of roots and combination with positive numbers For example, we could consider:

$$L = \left(2(-\Delta)^{1/2} + 17(-\Delta)^{4/3}\right)^{1/4} + (-\Delta)^{1/16}.$$

The result that we will need is the following.

**Proposition 5.7.**  $e^{-t(-\Delta)^{\lambda}}$  is positive preserving in  $L^2$ .

*Proof*. By (54), applied with  $A = -\Delta$ ,

$$e^{-t(-\Delta)^{\lambda}} = \int_0^{\infty} e^{st^{1/\lambda}\Delta} \phi_{\lambda}(s) ds$$
.

Then, the result follows from the fact that  $e^{t\Delta}$  is positive preserving and  $\phi_{\lambda} \geq 0$ .

**Remark 5.8.** We also note that in [Ste70] one can find explicit realizations of the semi-group  $e^{-t(-\Delta)^{1/2}}$ . This reference also contains a different proof of the positivity of this semi-group. It is shown that  $P(t,x) = e^{-t(-\Delta)^{1/2}} f(x)$  is the solution of  $\Delta + \partial_t^2 P = 0$  with boundary values at t = 0 given by f. Therefore, the positivity preserving of the semigroup is implied by the maximum principle of the Laplacian in one dimension more.

With the goal of checking (41) in the case of the fractional Laplacian, we now point out some Fourier analysis estimates on the fractional Laplacian operator, quite related to the ones on p. 193 of [LL97]. Since we supposed  $\omega \in \mathbb{Q}^d$ , say  $\omega \in \frac{1}{N}\mathbb{Z}^d$ , such analysis will involve periodic functions on  $N\mathbb{T}^d$ . For typographical reasons, we denote the Fourier transform of a function  $v \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  equivalently by  $\widehat{v}$  and by  $\mathcal{F}(v)$ . Note that, if  $v \in W^{2\lambda,2}(N\mathbb{T}^d)$ ,

$$\widehat{v}_k = \frac{1}{N^d} \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} v(x) e^{-2\pi i x \cdot k/N} dx \quad \text{and} \quad v(x) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} v_k e^{2\pi i x \cdot k/N},$$

it follows that

$$\partial_j v(x) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \frac{2\pi i k_j}{N} \widehat{v}_k e^{2\pi i x \cdot k/N}$$

and so

(70) 
$$\mathcal{F}\left((-\Delta)^{\lambda}v\right)_{k} = \operatorname{const}\left|\frac{k}{N}\right|^{2\lambda}\widehat{v}_{k}.$$

**Proposition 5.9.** For any t > 0,

$$||e^{-(-\Delta)^{\lambda}t}||_{\mathcal{L}(L^{2}(N\mathbb{T}^{d}))} + ||e^{-(-\Delta)^{\lambda}t}||_{\mathcal{L}(W^{\lambda,2}(N\mathbb{T}^{d}))} \leq C,$$

$$||e^{-(-\Delta)^{\lambda}t}||_{\mathcal{L}(L^{2}(N\mathbb{T}^{d}),W^{\lambda,2}(N\mathbb{T}^{d}))} \leq C \left(1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}}\right) \quad and$$

$$||e^{-(-\Delta)^{\lambda}t} - Id||_{\mathcal{L}(W^{\lambda,2}(N\mathbb{T}^{d}),L^{2}(N\mathbb{T}^{d}))} \leq C\sqrt{t},$$

for a suitable constant C > 0, possibly depending on N.

*Proof*. From (70), we have

$$||e^{-(-\Delta)^{\lambda}t}v||_{L^{2}(N\mathbb{T}^{d})}^{2} \leq \operatorname{const} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} |\mathcal{F}(e^{-(-\Delta)^{\lambda}t}v)(k)|^{2}$$

$$\leq \operatorname{const} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} |\widehat{v}_{k}e^{-\operatorname{const}|k|^{2\lambda}t}|^{2}$$

$$\leq \operatorname{const} ||v||_{L^{2}(N\mathbb{T}^{d})}^{2}.$$

Analogously,

$$\begin{aligned} ||e^{-(-\Delta)^{\lambda}t}v||_{W^{\lambda,2}(N\mathbb{T}^d)}^2 &\leq \operatorname{const} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \left(1 + |k|^{\lambda}\right)^2 \Big| \mathcal{F}\Big(e^{-(-\Delta)^{\lambda}t}v\Big)(k) \Big|^2 \\ &= \operatorname{const} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \left(1 + |k|^{\lambda}\right)^2 \Big| \widehat{v}_k e^{-\operatorname{const}|k|^{2\lambda}t} \Big|^2 \\ &\leq \operatorname{const} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \left(1 + |k|^{\lambda}\right)^2 |\widehat{v}_k|^2 \\ &= \operatorname{const} ||v||_{W^{\lambda,2}(N\mathbb{T}^d)}^2. \end{aligned}$$

The first estimate in Proposition 5.9 then follows. Also, the function

$$[0,+\infty)\ni\theta\longmapsto\theta e^{-\theta t}$$

reaches its maximum for  $\theta = 1/t$  and so

$$\theta e^{-\theta t} \le \frac{1}{et}$$

for any  $\theta \geq 0$ . Accordingly,

$$\begin{aligned} ||e^{-(-\Delta)^{\lambda}t}v||_{W^{\lambda,2}(N\mathbb{T}^d)}^2 &\leq \operatorname{const} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \left(1 + |k|^{\lambda}\right)^2 \Big| \mathcal{F}\Big(e^{-(-\Delta)^{\lambda}t}v\Big)(k) \Big|^2 \\ &= \operatorname{const} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \left(1 + |k|^{\lambda}\right)^2 \Big| \widehat{v}_k e^{-|\xi|^{2\lambda}t} \Big|^2 \\ &\leq \operatorname{const} \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} |\widehat{v}_k|^2 + \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} |k|^{2\lambda} e^{-2|k|^{2\lambda}t} |\widehat{v}_k|^2 \right) \\ &\leq \operatorname{const} \left(1 + \frac{1}{t}\right) ||v||_{L^2(N\mathbb{T}^d)}^2, \end{aligned}$$

which yields the second estimate in Proposition 5.9. We now observe that

$$1 - e^{-\tau} \le \min\{\tau, 1\}$$

and so

$$||e^{-(-\Delta)^{\lambda}t}v - v||_{L^{2}(N\mathbb{T}^{d})}^{2} \leq \operatorname{const} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \left| \mathcal{F}(e^{-(-\Delta)^{\lambda}t}v)(k) - \widehat{v}_{k} \right|^{2}$$

$$= \operatorname{const} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \left( 1 - e^{-|k|^{2\lambda}t} \right)^{2} |\widehat{v}_{k}|^{2}$$

$$\leq \operatorname{const} \sum_{|k|^{2\lambda}t \geq 1} |\widehat{v}_{k}|^{2} + \sum_{|k|^{2\lambda}t < 1} |k|^{4\lambda}t^{2} |\widehat{v}_{k}|^{2}$$

$$\leq \operatorname{const} \sum_{|k|^{2\lambda}t \geq 1} |k|^{2\lambda}t |\widehat{v}_{k}|^{2} + \sum_{|k|^{2\lambda}t < 1} |k|^{2\lambda}t |\widehat{v}_{k}|^{2}$$

$$\leq \operatorname{const} t \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \left( 1 + |k|^{\lambda} \right)^{2} |\widehat{v}_{k}|^{2}$$

$$= \operatorname{const} t ||v||_{W^{\lambda,2}}^{2},$$

which ends the proof of Proposition 5.9.

Following is the weak comparison principle that we need for our purposes:

**Proposition 5.10.** Let  $f \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^{d+1})$  and suppose that both  $u_1$  and  $u_2$  are in  $L^2(N\mathbb{T}^d)$  and satisfy

$$\partial_t u_i(x,t) = -(-\Delta)^{\lambda} u_i(x,t) + f(x, u_i(x,t)) \qquad i = 1, 2$$

for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $t \in [0,T]$ . Suppose that  $u_1(x,0) \leq u_2(x,0)$  for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ . Then,  $u_1(x,t) \leq u_2(x,t)$  for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $t \in [0,T]$ .

*Proof*. We will make use of Proposition 4.5. For this, we set l = d+1 and consider the vector field on  $\mathbb{R}^l$  given by

$$X: (x,r) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} \longmapsto (0, f(x,r)) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$$
.

We also consider the Banach (and, in fact, Hilbert) spaces  $V = \mathbb{R}^d \times W^{\lambda,2}$  and  $W = \mathbb{R}^d \times L^2$ . We define the linear operator L on W as

$$L: (x, u) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times L^2 \longmapsto (0, -(-\Delta)^{\lambda}).$$

Then,  $e^{tL} = (0, e^{-t(-\Delta)^{\lambda}})$ , and so estimates (41) are satisfied, thanks to Proposition 5.9. Furthermore, the flow  $\mathcal{F}_X^t$  generated by X is, in this case,

$$\mathcal{F}_X^t(x_0, r_0) = (x_0, r(t))$$

where r(t) is the solution of the ODE

$$\begin{cases} \dot{r}(t) &= f(x_0, r(t)) \\ r(0) &= r_0. \end{cases}$$

Note that

$$||\mathcal{F}_X^t(x_0, r_0)|| \le ||(x_0, r_0)|| + ||f||_{L^{\infty}}t$$

and so it satisfies (42) and (43).

Also, if  $\mathcal{X}$  and  $\mathcal{G}$  are as in (45), we have that

$$\mathcal{X}(x,u) = \left(0, f(x, u(x,t))\right)$$

for any  $(x, u) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times L^2$  and that  $\mathcal{G}$  sends  $(x', u', x'', u'') = (v', v'') \in V \times V$  to the linear operator  $\mathcal{G}(v', v'')$  on W given by

$$\left[\mathcal{G}(v'v''), v'''\right] = \left(0, \int_0^1 x''' \cdot \partial_x f(\star) + u'''(x) \partial_r f(\star) ds\right),$$

for any  $v''' = (x''', u''') \in W$  where " $\star$ " above is short for

$$(sx' + (1-s)x'', su'(x) + (1-s)u''(x)).$$

Then,  $\mathcal{X}$  and  $\mathcal{G}$  are as requested in (44).

Moreover, if we define  $U_i(x,t) = (x, u_i(x,t))$  for i = 1, 2, we have that  $U_i$  is a solution of (40). We define  $v^i(t)$  as in (46) (obviously, by replacing  $u_0(x)$  there with  $U_i(x,0)$ ). Then, we deduce from (47) that

(71) 
$$v^i$$
 approaches  $U_i$  in  $V$  when  $n \to +\infty$ .

We know observe that  $\mathcal{F}_X^t$  satisfies the comparison principle (because of the Cauchy Uniqueness Theorem for ODEs) and so does  $e^{tL}$  (because of Proposition 5.7) and therefore  $v^1 \leq v^2$ . Consequently, possibly taking a subsequence which converges almost everywhere, we gather from (71) that  $U_1 \leq U_2$  and so that  $u_1 \leq u_2$ .

We now recall the following compact embedding of  $W^{\lambda,2}(\mathbb{T}^d)$  into  $L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)$ :

**Lemma 5.11.** Let C > 0. Consider a family  $\mathcal{F}$  of functions in  $L^2(N\mathbb{T}^d)$  such that

(72) 
$$\sup_{v \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} k^{2\lambda} |\hat{v}_k|^2 \le C.$$

Then, given any sequence  $v^{(j)} \in \mathcal{F}$ , we have that the sequence

(73) 
$$v^{(j)} - \left[ \frac{1}{|N\mathbb{T}^d|} \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} v^j(x) \, dx \right]$$

is compact in  $L^2(N\mathbb{T}^d)$ , where  $[\cdot]$  here above denotes the integer part.

*Proof*. The proof is a variation of the standard diagonal trick. For this, we first note that

$$\left| \hat{v}_0^{(j)} - \left[ \frac{1}{|N\mathbb{T}^d|} \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} v^j(x) \, dx \right] \right| = |\hat{v}_0^{(j)} - [\hat{v}_0^{(j)}]| \le 1,$$

hence we may and do assume that

$$\lim_{j \to +\infty} \hat{v}_0^{(j)} - \left[ \frac{1}{|N\mathbb{T}^d|} \int_{N\mathbb{T}^d} v^j(x) \, dx \right] = \hat{v}_0^{\infty} \,,$$

for a suitable  $\hat{v}_0^{\infty}$ , with  $|\hat{v}_0^{\infty}| \leq 1$ . Fix now M > 0. By (72),

$$\sum_{0 < |k| \le M} |\hat{v}_k^{(j)}|^2 \le C.$$

That is, the sequence  $\{\hat{v}_k^{(j)}, 0 < |k| \leq M\}$  is bounded in a finite dimensional space. So, for  $0 < |k| \leq M$ , we can consider subsequences  $\hat{v}_k^{\phi_M(j)}$  in such a way that  $\hat{v}_k^{\phi_{M+1}(j)}$  is a subsequence of  $\hat{v}_k^{\phi_M(j)}$  and

$$\lim_{j \to +\infty} \hat{v}_k^{\phi_M(j)} = \hat{v}_k^{\infty} \,,$$

for any  $0 < |k| \le M$  and suitable  $\hat{v}_k^{\infty}$ .

We now show that, if  $\tilde{v}^{(j)}$  is the sequence in (73), then the sequence  $\tilde{v}^{\phi_j(j)}$  converges in  $L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)$  to the function

$$v^{\infty}(x) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \hat{v}_k^{\infty} e^{ik \cdot x} .$$

Indeed,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} |\hat{v}_k^{\infty}|^2 &= |\hat{v}_0^{\infty}|^2 + \lim_{M \to +\infty} \sum_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d \\ 0 < |k| \le M}} |\hat{v}_k^{\infty}|^2 \\ &= |\hat{v}_0^{\infty}|^2 + \lim_{M \to +\infty} \lim_{j \to +\infty} \sum_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d \\ 0 < |k| < M}} |\hat{v}_k^{\phi_j(j)}|^2 \le 1 + C \,, \end{split}$$

in force of (72), thence  $v^{\infty} \in L^2(N\mathbb{T}^d)$ . Also, using again (72), for any M > L > 0,

$$L^{2\lambda} \sum_{L+1 \le |k| \le M} |\hat{v}_k^{(j)}|^2 \le \sum_{L+1 \le |k| \le M} |k|^{2\lambda} |\hat{v}_k^{(j)}|^2 \le C$$

and so

$$L^{2\lambda} \sum_{L+1 \le |k| \le M} |\hat{v}_k^{\infty}|^2 \le C.$$

Accordingly,

$$\sum_{L+1 \le |k|} (|\hat{v}_k^{(j)}| + |\hat{v}_k^{\infty}|)^2 \le 3 \sum_{L+1 \le |k|} (|\hat{v}_k^{(j)}|^2 + |\hat{v}_k^{\infty}|^2) \le \frac{8C}{L^{2\lambda}}$$

Thus, fixed any  $L \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\begin{split} \lim_{j \to +\infty} \| \tilde{v}^{\phi_j(j)} - v^{\infty} \|_{L^2(N\mathbb{T}^d)}^2 &= \lim_{j \to +\infty} |\hat{\tilde{v}}_0^{\phi_j(j)} - \hat{v}_0^{\infty}|^2 + \sum_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d \\ k \neq 0}} |\hat{v}_k^{\phi_j(j)} - \hat{v}_k^{\infty}|^2 \\ &\leq 0 + \frac{8C}{L^{2\lambda}} + \lim_{j \to +\infty} \sum_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d \\ 0 < |k| \leq L}} |\hat{v}_k^{\phi_j(j)} - \hat{v}_k^{\infty}|^2 \\ &= 0 + \frac{8C}{L^{2\lambda}} + 0 \,. \end{split}$$

Since L may be taken as large as we wish, we conclude that  $\tilde{v}^{\phi_j(j)}$  approaches  $v^{\infty}$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)$ .

We now complete the proof of Theorem 5.4. To this purpose, we set  $v(x) = u(x) - \omega \cdot x$ , with  $\omega \in \frac{1}{N}\mathbb{Z}^d$ , and we seek  $v: N\mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ . Note that the fractional Laplacian operator  $(-\Delta)^{\lambda}$  is well defined on  $W^{2\lambda,2}(N\mathbb{T}^d) \subset L^2(N\mathbb{T}^d)$  by Fourier series. Given the above setting, we consider the functional

$$S_N(v) = \frac{1}{2} ||(-\Delta)^{\lambda/2} v||_{L^2(N\mathbb{T}^d)}^2 + \int_{[0,N]^d} V(x,v(x) + \omega \cdot x) \, dx \, .$$

Notice that critical points of S satisfies (67) since  $(-\Delta)^{\lambda/2}$  is self-adjoint.

Also, H1 and H2.1 are here obviously satisfied. Moreover, if  $v \in L^2(N\mathbb{T}^d)$ , we have that  $\mathcal{F}(v+1)_k = \mathcal{F}(v)_k = \widehat{v}_k$  for any  $k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$  and so

$$\mathcal{F}\Big((-\Delta)^{\lambda}(v+1)\Big)_{k} = \Big(|k|^{2\lambda}\mathcal{F}(v+1)_{k}\Big) = \Big(|k|^{2\lambda}\widehat{v}_{k}\Big) = \mathcal{F}\Big((-\Delta)^{\lambda}v\Big)_{k}$$

for any  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  and so

$$(-\Delta)^{\lambda}(v+1) = (-\Delta)^{\lambda}v.$$

Consequently, the invariance property in H2.2 is satisfied in this case. Of course,  $S_N$  is bounded from below, since V is smooth enough, thus fulfilling condition H2.3. Besides,

(74) 
$$\left\langle (-\Delta)^{\lambda} v, v \right\rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{d})} = \left\langle (-\Delta)^{\lambda/2} v, (-\Delta)^{\lambda/2} v \right\rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{d})} \ge 0$$

for any  $v \in W^{2\lambda,2}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ , since the fractional Laplacian is self-adjoint. Furthermore, given any  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)$ , if we define v by

$$\widehat{v}_k = \frac{\widehat{f}_k}{1 + |k|^{2\lambda}}$$

we have that  $v \in W^{2\lambda,2}(\mathbb{T}^d)$  and

$$\left( (-\Delta)^{\lambda} + \operatorname{Id} \right) v = f.$$

The latter argument and (74) imply that the operator  $-(-\Delta)^{\lambda}$  satisfies (31) with  $D = W^{2\lambda,2}(\mathbb{T}^d)$  and  $H = L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)$ , so it is m-accretive and thus it generates a heat flow, thanks to Theorem 4.1. Then, the gradient of  $\mathcal{S}_N$  generates a semi-flow by Proposition 4.3 (which may be applied here due to the first estimate in Proposition 5.9) and this argument gives condition H3.1. Condition H3.2 is obtained by the standard argument in Lemma 2.10.

Assumption H3.3 is fulfilled in the light of the following argument. Since the fractional Laplacian is self-adjoint,

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{S}_N(v(t)) = -\|(-\Delta)^{\lambda/2}v + \partial_2 V(x, v + \omega \cdot x)\|_{L^2(N\mathbb{T}^d)} \le 0$$

and so  $S_N(v(t)) \leq S_N(v(0))$ . This yields that

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} k^{2\lambda} |\hat{v}_k(t)|^2 \le C_1(N, v(0))$$

for a suitable  $C_1(N, v(0))$  independent of t. Then, recalling Lemma 5.11, by possibly subtracting the integer part of its average to v(t), we have that, for  $t \to +\infty$ , up to subsequences, v is compact in  $L^2$ . Therefore, since the fractional Laplacian is self-adjoint, v(t) converges pointwise, as  $t \to +\infty$ , up to subsequences, to a suitable  $v^*$  which solves  $(-\Delta)^{\lambda/2}v^* + \partial_2 V(x, v^* + \omega \cdot x) = 0$ . This shows that condition H3.3 is satisfied.

Also, condition H3.4 is warranted by Proposition 5.10.

answers a question that was posed in [Mos86a].

Thus, the proof of Theorem 5.4 is ended by the use of Theorem 3.7.

# 5.3. Quasi-periodic solutions in manifolds with residually finite fundamental group. In this section, we show how the results of [Mos86a] can be extended to other manifolds than the torus and, in particular, to some manifolds with a non-Abelian fundamental group. This

We will establish:

**Theorem 5.12.** Let M be a compact Riemannian manifold. Let G be a finitely generated subgroup of the fundamental group  $\Pi_1(M)$ .

Let  $\tilde{M}$  be the universal cover associated to G, i.e.  $M = \tilde{M}/G$ . Denote by gx the action of G on  $\tilde{M}$  by Deck transformations.

Let  $F: TM \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a  $C^3$  function which we can write in local coordinates as F(x, u, p). Consider the formal variational principle

(75) 
$$S(u) = \int_{\tilde{M}} F(x, u(x), \nabla u(x)) dx$$

whose Euler-Lagrange equations are

(76) 
$$\nabla \mathcal{S}(u) = -\operatorname{div}(\nabla_p F(x, u(x)\nabla u(x)) + \nabla_u F(x, u(x)\nabla u(x)) = 0$$

Assume:

- i) The group G is residually finite.
- ii)  $F(x, u + \ell, p) = F(x, u, p), \forall \ell \in \mathbb{Z}.$
- iii) The quadratic form  $F_{pp}$  is positive definite and there is a lower bound for it which is independent of x and u.

Then, for every cocycle  $\varphi$  of G, we can find a  $u: \tilde{M} \to \mathbb{R}$  solving (76) and such that

$$u(\cdot) - \varphi(\cdot) \in L^{\infty}(\tilde{M})$$
.

Moreover, u is Birkhoff.

*Proof*. We will need to verify the abstract framework of Theorem 3.7. Note that, in the particular case that F(x,u,p) = Q(x)[p,p] + V(x,u) where Q is a quadratic form and V is a function  $V(x,u+\ell) = V(x,u)$ , the variational equations are such that the higher order term is linear. Then, the theory discussed in Section 4 is enough to verify the hypothesis of Theorem 3.7. In the full generality considered in Theorem 5.12 we will need to use a part of the theory of fully non-linear equations.

For our purposes, we only require existence, uniqueness and small amounts of regularity. Moreover, our coefficients and functions being periodic are quite well behaved. Moreover, since our equations are gradient flows, the energy estimates are automatic. Hence, the required properties will be within easy reach of textbook theory, such as [Tay97], [Fri64] and [LSU67].

Clearly, the geometric hypothesis H1 and H2 are verified. The variational principle, being local is invariant under Deck transformations. In particular, H2.2 is a consequence of assumption ii) in Theorem 5.12.

We recall that the assumption that the manifold M has a finite fundamental group includes in particular, the tori considered in [Mos86a] and [Ban89], manifolds of negative curvature and other manifolds such as Heisenberg groups and products of the above, etc.

Hypothesis H3 about existence of the gradient flow and its regularity and comparison properties for the case at hand fits into the classical theory of parabolic equations explained in different versions of varying sophistication in [Tay97] 15.7, 15.8 and 15.9 (p. 327 ff.) We just summarize the argument as developed in the above source, to which we refer for references to the original literature.

We call attention to the fact that the only term of (76) involving derivatives of second order is (in local coordinates)

(77) 
$$\sum_{i,j} -F_{p_i,p_j}(x,u,\nabla u)\partial_{x_j}\partial_{x_j}u.$$

Hence, the equation for the gradient semi-flow is quasilinear.

Recall that we are working in a compact manifold and note that the "strong parabolicity condition" (see [Tay97] (7.2) p. 327) is assumption iii) of Theorem 5.12 here.

The classical theory of quasilinear equations starts by establishing local existence and uniqueness using a Galerkin method. The uniform parabolicity is used to show that, for short enough time, the Galerkin approximations converge to a solution which is unique. Of crucial importance is the fact that the solution persists if it is regular enough.

The following is Proposition 8.2 of [Tay97] p. 339:

**Proposition 5.13.** Assume that F is as indicated. Then, provided  $u_0 \in H^{d/2+1}$ , the equation

$$\partial_t u = \nabla S(u), \qquad u(0) = u_0$$

has a unique solution in  $C^0((0,T],H^s(M))\cap C^1((0,T],H^{s-2}(M))$ . If also

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} ||u||_{C^{1+r}} < \infty$$

for some r > 0, then, it is possible to find a T' > T for which the same conclusions hold.

The proof of Theorem 5.12 is thus ended by the following argument. Assumption iii) in Theorem 5.12 gives that the operator in (77) is m-accretive and so its heat flow satisfies H3.1, according to Theorem 4.1. Condition H3.2 follows from the standard arguments in Lemma 4.1. The fact that the energy decreases on the semi-flow u(t) implies a control of the  $L^2$  norm of the gradient  $\nabla u(t)$  which is independent of t and then, by Poincaré Inequality, a control of the  $L^2$  norm of u(t) (up to subtracting the integer part of the average): this and standard compactness arguments yield H3.3.

Condition H3.4 follows from Proposition 4.5 and H4 is warranted by elliptic regularity. Then, exploiting Theorem 3.7, we conclude the proof of Theorem 5.12.

# Acknowledgments

We thank E. DiBenedetto, L. Caffarelli, A. Candel, J.W. Neuberger and R. Showalter for several interesting discussions. C. Gutiérrez suggested the use of the subordination identity and S. Cerrai provided useful references for interpolation spaces. The work of RdlL was supported by NSF grants. The work of EV was supported by MIUR Variational Methods and Nonlinear Differential Equations.

#### References

- [AB98] Giovanni Alberti and Giovanni Bellettini. A nonlocal anisotropic model for phase transitions. I. The optimal profile problem. *Math. Ann.*, 310(3):527–560, 1998.
- [Ang90] Sigurd B. Angenent. Monotone recurrence relations, their Birkhoff orbits and topological entropy. Ergodic Theory Dynamical Systems, 10(1):15–41, 1990.
- [AZ90] Jürgen Appell and Petr P. Zabrejko. Nonlinear superposition operators, volume 95 of Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990.
- [Ban87] V. Bangert. The existence of gaps in minimal foliations. Aequationes Math., 34(2-3):153–166, 1987.

- [Ban89] V. Bangert. On minimal laminations of the torus. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire, 6(2):95–138, 1989.
- [BBP01] Giovanni Bellettini, Paolo Buttà, and Errico Presutti. Sharp interface limits for non-local anisotropic interactions. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 159(2):109–135, 2001.
- [Bes05] Ugo Bessi. Many solutions of elliptic problems on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of irrational slope. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 30(10-12):1773-1804, 2005.
- [BMV07] Massimiliano Berti, Michele Matzeu, and Enrico Valdinoci. On periodic elliptic equations with gradient dependence. *Preprint*, 2007.
- [BV06] Isabeau Birindelli and Enrico Valdinoci. The Ginzburg-Landau equation in the Heisenberg group. Preprint, 2006. MP\_ARC.
- [Caf79] L. A. Caffarelli. Further regularity for the Signorini problem. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 4(9):1067–1075, 1979.
- [Caf99] L. A. Caffarelli. A note on nonlinear homogenization. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 52(7):829–838, 1999.
- [CC95] Luis A. Caffarelli and Xavier Cabré. Fully nonlinear elliptic equations. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1995.
- [CdlL98] A. Candel and R. de la Llave. On the Aubry-Mather theory in statistical mechanics. Comm. Math. Phys., 192(3):649–669, 1998.
- [CdlL01] Luis A. Caffarelli and Rafael de la Llave. Planelike minimizers in periodic media. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 54(12):1403–1441, 2001.
- [CdlL05] Luis A. Caffarelli and Rafael de la Llave. Interfaces of ground states in Ising models with periodic coefficients. J. Stat. Phys., 118(3-4):687-719, 2005.
- [CG94] Walter Craig and Mark D. Groves. Hamiltonian long-wave approximations to the water-wave problem. *Wave Motion*, 19(4):367–389, 1994.
- [CH62] R. Courant and D. Hilbert. Methods of mathematical physics. Vol. II: Partial differential equations. (Vol. II by R. Courant.). Interscience Publishers (a division of John Wiley & Sons), New York-London, 1962.
- [CMHM78] Alexandre J. Chorin, Marjorie F. McCracken, Thomas J. R. Hughes, and Jerrold E. Marsden. Product formulas and numerical algorithms. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 31(2):205–256, 1978.
- [COP02] Marzio Cassandro, Enza Orlandi, and Pierre Picco. The optimal interface profile for a non-local model of phase separation. *Nonlinearity*, 15(5):1621–1651, 2002.
- [Cor98] Diego Cordoba. Nonexistence of simple hyperbolic blow-up for the quasi-geostrophic equation. *Ann. of Math. (2)*, 148(3):1135–1152, 1998.
- [CSM05] Xavier Cabré and Joan Solà-Morales. Layer solutions in a half-space for boundary reactions. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 58(12):1678–1732, 2005.
- [CZ93] D. J. Collins and H. Zieschang. Combinatorial group theory and fundamental groups. In Algebra, VII, pages 1–166, 233–240. Springer, Berlin, 1993.
- [DG75] J. J. Duistermaat and V. W. Guillemin. The spectrum of positive elliptic operators and periodic bicharacteristics. *Invent. Math.*, 29(1):39–79, 1975.
- [DiB83] E. DiBenedetto.  $C^{1+\alpha}$  local regularity of weak solutions of degenerate elliptic equations. Nonlinear Anal., 7(8):827–850, 1983.
- [DiB93] Emmanuele DiBenedetto. Degenerate parabolic equations. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1993.
- [DiB95] Emmanuele DiBenedetto. Partial differential equations. Birkhäuser Boston Inc., Boston, MA, 1995.
- [dlLV06] Rafael de la Llave and Enrico Valdinoci. Ground states and critical points for Aubry-Mather theory in statistical mechanics. *Preprint*, 2006. MP\_ARC.
- [dlLV07a] Rafael de la Llave and Enrico Valdinoci. Critical points inside the gaps of ground state laminations for some models in statistical mechanics. *J. Statist. Phys.*, 2007. To appear.
- [dlLV07b] Rafael de la Llave and Enrico Valdinoci. Ground states and critical points for generalized Frenkel-Kontorova models in  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ . Nonlinearity, 2007. To appear.
- [dlLV07c] Rafael de la Llave and Enrico Valdinoci. Multiplicity results for interfaces of Ginzburg-Landau-Allen-Cahn equations in periodic media. Adv. Math., 215(1):379–426, 2007.
- [E99] Weinan E. Aubry-Mather theory and periodic solutions of the forced Burgers equation. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 52(7):811–828, 1999.

- [Fat97] Albert Fathi. Théorème KAM faible et théorie de Mather sur les systèmes lagrangiens. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 324(9):1043–1046, 1997.
- [FdlL86] C. Fefferman and R. de la Llave. Relativistic stability of matter. I. Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana, 2(1-2):119-213, 1986.
- [Fri64] Avner Friedman. Partial differential equations of parabolic type. Prentice-Hall Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1964.
- [Fri76] Avner Friedman. Partial differential equations. Robert E. Krieger Publishing Co., Huntington, N.Y., original edition, 1976.
- [Gol92] Christophe Golé. A new proof of the Aubry-Mather's theorem. Math. Z., 210(3):441–448, 1992.
- [GP06] Adriana Garroni and Giampiero Palatucci. A singular perturbation result with a fractional norm. In *Variational problems in materials science*, volume 68 of *Progr. Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl.*, pages 111–126. Birkhäuser, Basel, 2006.
- [Hen81] Daniel Henry. Geometric theory of semilinear parabolic equations, volume 840 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1981.
- [Hil48] Einar Hille. Functional Analysis and Semi-Groups. American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications, vol. 31. American Mathematical Society, New York, 1948.
- [HKM06] Juha Heinonen, Tero Kilpeläinen, and Olli Martio. Nonlinear potential theory of degenerate elliptic equations. Dover Publications Inc., Mineola, NY, 2006. Unabridged republication of the 1993 original.
- [KdlLR97] Hans Koch, Rafael de la Llave, and Charles Radin. Aubry-Mather theory for functions on lattices. Discrete Contin. Dynam. Systems, 3(1):135–151, 1997.
- [Kom67] Hikosaburo Komatsu. Fractional powers of operators. II. Interpolation spaces. Pacific J. Math., 21:89–111, 1967.
- [Koz83a] S. M. Kozlov. Ground states of quasiperiodic operators. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 271(3):532–536, 1983.
- [Koz83b] S. M. Kozlov. Reducibility of quasiperiodic differential operators and averaging. Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obshch., 46:99–123, 1983.
- [Kry96] N. V. Krylov. Lectures on elliptic and parabolic equations in Hölder spaces. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1996.
- [Lan72] N. S. Landkof. Foundations of modern potential theory. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1972. Translated from the Russian by A. P. Doohovskoy, Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 180.
- [LdC97] M. Lanza de Cristoforis. Differentiability properties of the autonomous composition operator in Sobolev spaces. Z. Anal. Anwendungen, 16(3):631–651, 1997.
- [Lio69] J.-L. Lions. Quelques méthodes de résolution des problèmes aux limites non linéaires. Dunod, 1969.
- [LL97] Elliott H. Lieb and Michael Loss. Analysis, volume 14 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1997.
- [LSU67] O. A. Ladyženskaja, V. A. Solonnikov, and N. N. Ural'tseva. Linear and quasilinear equations of parabolic type. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1967. Translated from the Russian by S. Smith. Translations of Mathematical Monographs, Vol. 23.
- [Lun95] Alessandra Lunardi. Analytic semigroups and optimal regularity in parabolic problems. Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications, 16. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1995.
- [Mat82] John N. Mather. Existence of quasiperiodic orbits for twist homeomorphisms of the annulus. Topology, 21(4):457–467, 1982.
- [Mat93] J.N. Mather. Variational construction of connecting orbits. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 43(5):1349–1386, 1993.
- [Mat96] J.N. Mather. Graduate course at Princeton, 95–96, and Lectures at Penn State, Spring 96, Paris, Summer 96, Austin, Fall 96.
- [Mos86a] Jürgen Moser. Minimal solutions of variational problems on a torus. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire, 3(3):229–272, 1986.
- [Mos86b] Jürgen Moser. Monotone twist mappings and the calculus of variations. Ergodic Theory Dynamical Systems, 6(3):401–413, 1986.
- [Mos88] Jürgen Moser. A stability theorem for minimal foliations on a torus. Ergodic Theory Dynamical Systems, 8\*(Charles Conley Memorial Issue):251–281, 1988.

- [Mos89a] Jürgen Moser. Minimal foliations on a torus. In *Topics in calculus of variations (Montecatini Terme, 1987)*, pages 62–99. Springer, Berlin, 1989.
- [Mos89b] Jürgen Moser. Quasi-periodic solutions of nonlinear elliptic partial differential equations. Bol. Soc. Brasil. Mat. (N.S.), 20(1):29–45, 1989.
- [MT96] Andrew J. Majda and Esteban G. Tabak. A two-dimensional model for quasigeostrophic flow: comparison with the two-dimensional Euler flow. *Phys. D*, 98(2-4):515–522, 1996. Nonlinear phenomena in ocean dynamics (Los Alamos, NM, 1995).
- [NS94] P. I. Naumkin and I. A. Shishmarëv. Nonlinear nonlocal equations in the theory of waves. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1994. Translated from the Russian manuscript by Boris Gommerstadt.
- [NV07a] Matteo Novaga and Enrico Valdinoci. The geometry of mesoscopic phase transition interfaces. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst., 2007. To appear.
- [NV07b] Matteo Novaga and Enrico Valdinoci. Multibump solutions and asymptotic expansions for mesoscopic Allen-Cahn type equations. Preprint, 2007. MP\_ARC.
- [Pol46] Harry Pollard. The representation of  $e^{-x^{\lambda}}$  as a Laplace integral. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 52:908–910, 1946.
- [PV05] Arshak Petrosyan and Enrico Valdinoci. Density estimates for a degenerate/singular phase-transition model. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 36(4):1057–1079 (electronic), 2005.
- [PW84] Murray H. Protter and Hans F. Weinberger. *Maximum principles in differential equations*. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1984. Corrected reprint of the 1967 original.
- [RS72] Michael Reed and Barry Simon. Methods of modern mathematical physics. I. Functional analysis. Academic Press, New York, 1972.
- [RS03] Paul H. Rabinowitz and Ed Stredulinsky. Mixed states for an Allen-Cahn type equation. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 56(8):1078–1134, 2003.
- [RS04a] P. H. Rabinowitz and E. Stredulinsky. On some results of Moser and of Bangert. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire, 21(5):673–688, 2004.
- [RS04b] Paul H. Rabinowitz and Ed Stredulinsky. Mixed states for an Allen-Cahn type equation. II. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 21(2):157–207, 2004.
- [RS04c] Paul H. Rabinowitz and Ed Stredulinsky. On some results of Moser and of Bangert. II. Adv. Nonlinear Stud., 4(4):377–396, 2004.
- [Sho94] R. E. Showalter. Hilbert space methods for partial differential equations. Electronic Monographs in Differential Equations, San Marcos, TX, 1994. Electronic reprint of the 1977 original.
- [Sho97] R. E. Showalter. Monotone operators in Banach space and nonlinear partial differential equations.

  American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1997.
- [Sli99] S. Slijepčević. Monotone gradient dynamics and Mather's shadowing. Nonlinearity, 12(4):969–986, 1999.
- [Ste70] Elias M. Stein. Singular integrals and differentiability properties of functions. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1970. Princeton Mathematical Series, No. 30.
- [SY98] Wenxian Shen and Yingfei Yi. Almost automorphic and almost periodic dynamics in skew-product semiflows. *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 136(647):x+93, 1998.
- [Tay96] Michael E. Taylor. Partial differential equations. I. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1996. Basic theory.
- [Tay97] Michael E. Taylor. Partial differential equations. III. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1997. Nonlinear equations, Corrected reprint of the 1996 original.
- [Tol84] Peter Tolksdorf. Regularity for a more general class of quasilinear elliptic equations. J. Differential Equations, 51(1):126–150, 1984.
- [Val01] Enrico Valdinoci. Plane-like minimizers in periodic media: jet flows and Ginzburg-Landau. PhD thesis, University of Texas at Austin, 2001. MP\_ARC.
- [Val04] Enrico Valdinoci. Plane-like minimizers in periodic media: jet flows and Ginzburg-Landau-type functionals. *J. Reine Angew. Math.*, 574:147–185, 2004.
- [Wei95] H. F. Weinberger. A first course in partial differential equations with complex variables and transform methods. Dover Publications Inc., New York, 1995. Corrected reprint of the 1965 original.
- [Yos48] Kôsaku Yosida. On the differentiability and the representation of one-parameter semi-group of linear operators. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 1:15–21, 1948.
- [Yos78] Kôsaku Yosida. Functional analysis. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, fifth edition, 1978. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 123.

University of Texas at Austin, Department of Mathematics, 1 University Station C1200, Austin, TX 78712-0257 (USA)

 $E ext{-}mail\ address: llave@math.utexas.edu}$ 

DIPARTIMENTO DI MATEMATICA, UNIVERSITÀ DI ROMA TOR VERGATA, VIA DELLA RICERCA SCIENTIFICA, 1, I-00133 ROMA (ITALY)

 $E ext{-}mail\ address: enrico@math.utexas.edu}$